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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HTEEREE

The information system solution industry in the People’s Republic of China
(“China” or the "PRC") was still mired in a harsh business environment
during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (the "Reporting Period")
of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”, which together with its
subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”). Projects undertaken by the
industry were either delayed or scaled down as they were affected by
several factors, namely the country’s slowing economy amid its fight
against the novel coronavirus pneumonia pandemic, the United States of
America (the “United States” or “US”) government’s more stringent
sanctions against China’s technology sector amid heightening geopolitical
tensions, and the Chinese government’s tighter regulation of the online/
offline digital payment services in preparation for the launch of the digital
renminbi (or Digital Currency Electronic Payment which is abbreviated as
DCEP and F & ¥ & TS 1+ in Chinese).

To adapt to the volatile and complicated situation, the Group had already
adopted a prudent approach to investment in the research and
development of technology and had been shifting the focus of its business
to the operation of information technology systems from the development
of such systems. For instance, it stepped up its effort to expand the
business of value-added services such as short messaging services for
businesses. It had also been preparing to diversify into a front-end business
of selling wearable devices such as smartwatches for children. Such
smartwatches will be installed with the information technology software
and system developed by the Group and will be bundled with the
telecommunication services of a major telecommunications carrier in
China. Such moves are part of the Group’s ongoing business
transformation and diversification which are aimed at tiding itself over the
difficult business environment, broadening the income stream and
fostering growth drivers. The Group has earlier mapped out a two-pronged
strategy for capitalizing on China’s growing digital economy by fostering
both the back-end and front-end businesses of information technology
software and system development. In the back-end business, the Group
kept on running its businesses of information technology software and
system development for information verification, artificial intelligence (“Al")
services and solutions and robotic process automation (“RPA”). Meanwhile,
the diversification into the front-end business of selling wearable devices
such as smartwatches for children will enable the Group to build its brand
in the end-user market and thus create its brand awareness.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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Executive Director’s Statement
HTEEREE

For more than five years, the Company has been building up its capability
to run the back-end businesses. Notably, it had already undertaken projects
to apply eCitizen (or “e 2 " in Chinese, which is its proprietary product
for electronic identity authentication that enables users of services to safely
log in, sign digitally and have their personal data protected in online
transactions) to some banks' financial services and electronic signature and
to conduct information verification for other companies through its 70%-
held Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. ("CITIC Cyber
Security”).

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security continued to conduct
information verification for a securities brokerage, a certificate authority
and a mainland China-based full-service investment banking enterprise
through websites, application programming interface (“API") or terminals.
It was also fulfilling a contract to build a unified digital authentication
system, carry out application integration and operate and maintain such
system for an information technology subsidiary of a China-based
transportation infrastructure design and construction firm.

During the fourth quarter of the previous financial year ended 31 March
2022 (the “previous financial year”), CITIC Cyber Security signed a
contract to build an infrastructure for real-name system management
based on eCitizen digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company.

In the businesses of information technology software and system development
for Al services and solutions and RPA, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. GRYITI R 1B (5 SR B R A7) (‘Shenzhen
YBDS") signed a framework agreement during the previous financial year to
provide training in and consultancy on RPA for a software and information
technology service company. Such training in and consultancy on RPA enable
a leading telecommunications company to provide some Al-based customer
services such as answering customer enquiries about outstanding fees and
unused quota of data transmission without involving any manpower. Such Al
services and solutions not only can replace manual workers in simple and
routine jobs and thus can relieve the pressure of the rising labour cost, but also
can lay the foundation of big data analytics, which can help companies to
promote certain new services or products among target customers.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HTEEREE

Meanwhile, the Group is also preparing to begin its front-end business of
selling smartwatches for children that can function as handsets for both
audio and visual communications, connect to the internet through Wi-Fi
and enable the wearers’ parents to track them through the global
positioning system (GPS). The smartwatches will be bundled with the
telecommunication services of a major telecom carrier in China. The Group
will be the general agency for the distribution of the smartwatches or
provide services that support the operation of such wearable devices as
hardware.

To shift the focus of its business to the operation of information technology
systems, the Group will increase its effort to expand the business of value-
added services such as short-messaging services. Following the successful
start of its cooperation with an information technology company in
providing a multimedia short messaging service for businesses on behalf
of a branch of a major telecommunications carrier of China in Guangdong
province during the Reporting Period, the Group is going to sign separate
contracts with two more information technology companies to provide
short-messaging services for businesses through the networks of the
country’s three major telecommunications carriers. It also contemplates
broadening the scope of the value-added services in the future.

The two-pronged strategy of fostering both the back-end and front-end
businesses will enable the Group to fully capitalize on China’s growing
digital economy and the upgrading and transformation of the country’s
industries. Meanwhile, the shift of the Group’s focus to the operation of
information technology software and system represents its prudent
approach to business development as a way to cope with the volatile and
complicated business environment.

All these initiatives can broaden the income stream and add impetus to
the Group's business development for the long term.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the board
of directors, the employees and the business partners of the Company. We
will continue to work closely together for a brighter future.

Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 13 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE S W LT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The information system solution industry in the People’s Republic of China
(“China” or the "PRC") was faced with a difficult business environment
during the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2023. The country’s
economic growth decelerated amid its combat against the pandemic. The
situation was exacerbated by the escalating geopolitical conflicts and
tensions which led to irrepressibly high inflation, and interest rate hikes by
major central banks around the world as a response. Furthermore, China'’s
technology sector was subjected to the more stringent sanctions by the
United States of America (the “United States” or “US”) government.
Following the US government’s decision to restrict the export of advanced
chips (those of less than 14 nanometers) and advanced chip-making
technology and equipment to China in October 2022 amid heightening
geopolitical tensions, Japan and the Netherlands agreed to join the US in
imposing such restriction on China in February 2023. As a result, China’s
information system solution developers and providers have become more
cautious about investment in research and development of new
technology that involves more advanced chips. This can hinder the
upgrading and digitalization of the country’s industries. The slowing
economy and the US sanctions combined to cause projects undertaken by
China’s information system solution industry to be delayed or scaled down.
Moreover, the Chinese government had tightened its regulation of the
online/offline digital payment services as it piloted the digital renminbi (or
Digital Currency Electronic Payment which is abbreviated as DCEP and £X
FEEEE T in Chinese). This affected the industry which is related to
such services.

However, China’s information system solution industry still saw
opportunities in the growing markets for artificial intelligence ("Al") services
and solutions and robotic process automation (“RPA”). Such technologies
not only help industries cope with the problems of labour shortage and
wage rises caused by the pandemic, but also facilitate their digitalization
and upgrading.

China’s market for Al has been projected to be US$13.03 billion in 2022 by
International Data Corporation (IDC), a global market intelligence firm
which is focused on the technology industry (Source: an article entitled
022 P AITISRRAGE 1308 E T AREE BB BRI
dated 29 December 2022 on &5 48, www.21jingjicom). The market has
been predicted by IDC to grow at a compound annual growth rate of over
20% from 2021 to 2026, reaching US$14.75 billion in 2023 and US$26.44
billion in 2026 (Source: an article entitled “IDC: 2026 FF A B A TS 8ET 35
IR R TERT S8 264.4 {83 JT " dated 29 March 2023 on IDC's website).
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I\/\anagement Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In the light of the tough operating environment caused by slowing
economy and exacerbated by the US sanctions against China’s technology
sector, the Group had already adopted a prudent approach to investment
in the research and development of technology and had been shifting the
focus of its business to the operation of information technology systems
from the development of such systems. This can allow the Group to
mitigate the adverse effect of the US government’s technology sanction
policy on its business and to further develop less labour-intensive
businesses. For instance, it started diversifying into the business of value-
added services such as short messaging services for businesses in the
second half of 2022 and has since been stepping up its efforts to expand
that business. It had also been preparing to diversify into a front-end
business of selling wearable devices such as smartwatches for children
which would be installed with the information technology software and
system developed by the Group and would be bundled with the
telecommunication services of a major telecom carrier in China. Such
moves are part of the Group’s ongoing business transformation and
diversification which are aimed at tiding itself over the difficult business
environment, broadening the income stream and fostering growth drivers.
The Group has earlier mapped out a strategy for capitalizing on China’s
growing digital economy by fostering both the back-end and front-end
businesses of information technology software and system development.
In the back-end business, the Group kept on running its businesses of
information technology software and system development for information
verification, Al services and solutions and RPA. Meanwhile, the
diversification into the front-end business of selling wearable devices such
as smartwatches for children will enable the Group to build its brand in the
end-user market and thus create its brand awareness.

The Group has been building up its capability to operate back-end
businesses of information technology software and system development
for more than five years.

In the information verification business, the Company’s 70%-held
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. (“CITIC Cyber
Security”) had already undertaken projects to apply eCitizen (or e ‘AR"
in Chinese, which is its proprietary product for electronic identity
authentication that enables users of services to safely log in, sign digitally
and have their personal data protected in online transactions) to some
banks’ financial services and electronic signature and to conduct
information verification for other companies.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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I\/\anagement Discussion and Analysis
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During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security continued to conduct
information verification for a securities brokerage, a certificate authority
and a mainland China-based full-service investment banking enterprise
through websites, application programming interface (“API") or terminals.
It was also fulfilling a contract to build a unified digital authentication
system, carry out application integration and operate and maintain such
system for an information technology subsidiary of a China-based
transportation infrastructure design and construction firm.

In September 2022, the Group signed a contract to sell two data encryption
devices, two server encryption devices and one authenticated encryption
device to an information technology firm and to develop software for it.
Such devices and services are involved in the information verification
conducted for the above-mentioned securities brokerage, certificate
authority and mainland China-based full-service investment banking
enterprise.

CITIC Cyber Security had earlier signed an agreement with the Shenzhen
branch of a PRC-based bank to jointly promote each other’s respective
services, namely CITIC Cyber Security's internet electronic identity
authentication and the bank’s financial services in June 2019. Under this
agreement, eCitizen would be applied to the bank's financial services. In
June 2019, CITIC Cyber Security also reached an agreement with a
Shenzhen-based certificate authority to cooperate in combining eCitizen
SIM card and digital certificates and in applying the two combined
technologies to such fields as electronic signature. In January 2020, CITIC
Cyber Security signed a contract to develop and implement on behalf of
another PRC-based bank a platform for signing, managing and auditing
contracts electronically.

During the fourth quarter of the previous financial year ended 31 March
2022 (the “previous financial year”), CITIC Cyber Security signed a
contract to build an infrastructure for real-name system management
based on eCitizen digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company. CITIC Cyber Security would provide 5G-eCitizen
SIM cards, develop applications customized for certain occasions, and
provide technical support.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CITIC Cyber Security had earlier entered into an agreement dated 30
September 2020 to form a digital technology joint venture company with
China’s three major telecommunications carriers and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of a state-owned public security technology company (For
further details, please refer to the Company 's announcement dated 10
February 2021 and circular dated 26 May 2021, which were published on
the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited). The joint
venture company will provide financial institutions, government
departments and enterprises with digital solutions for cyber security. As at
31 March 2023, the joint venture company has not yet been established.

In the Group's other businesses, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Cyber
Security signed an agreement during the fourth quarter of the previous
financial year to authorize a website of a technology company that builds a
smart city to replicate digitally, issue and disseminate on information
network the video content of an education course; during the second half
of the previous financial year, CITIC Cyber Security also signed separate
contracts to provide, install, operate and maintain intelligent bookcases
that serve as automatic libraries of both print books and digital reading
materials for a culture industry company, an equity exchange and a
property development and management firm.

During the Reporting Period, the Group also engaged in other businesses
that included the supply of electrical and electronic components, namely
inductors and master control chips; and designing mobile web pages for
marketing on behalf of an information technology firm and its client as an
end-user and providing technical support for them in running such web
pages. Its business of subleasing co-working spaces of an office building in
Shenzhen ceased in October 2022.

1. Development and implementation of a platform
for electronically signing, managing and auditing
contracts

CITIC Cyber Security developed and implemented on behalf of a
PRC-based bank a platform for signing, managing and auditing
contracts electronically. The contract was completed during the
Reporting Period.

2. Conducting information verification for other
companies

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, CITIC Cyber Security
had signed two separate contracts to conduct information
verification for a securities brokerage and a certificate authority
through websites, APl or terminals. Previously, it signed an
agreement with a Shenzhen-based information technology system
developer in June 2020 to conduct information verification on behalf
of a mainland China-based full-service investment bank.
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Construction of a unified digital authentication
system, application integration and operation and
maintenance of the system

In July 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to build a unified
digital authentication system, carry out application integration and
operate and maintain such system for an information technology
subsidiary of a China-based transportation infrastructure design and
construction firm. CITIC Cyber Security provided both services and
hardware for its client during the Reporting Period.

Provision, installation, operation and maintenance
of intelligent bookcases

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, CITIC Cyber Security
and its wholly-owned subsidiary signed three separate contracts to
provide, install, operate and maintain intelligent bookcases that
serve as automatic libraries of both print books and digital reading
materials for an equity exchange, a property development and
management firm and a culture industry company. The services
were provided during the Reporting Period.

Building infrastructure for real-name system
management based on eCitizen digital identity
verification technology

In March 2022, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to build an
infrastructure for real-name system management based on eCitizen
digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company. CITIC Cyber Security will provide 5G-eCitizen
SIM cards, develop applications customized for certain occasions,
and provide technical support.

Authorizing a website to replicate digitally, issue
and disseminate on information network the
video content of an education course

In January 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Cyber Security
signed an agreement to authorize a website of a technology
company that builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and
disseminate on information network the video content of an
education course.

Designing mobile web pages for marketing

In June 2022, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen
YBDS IT Co, Ltd. (R YII T 88 1§ 15 B F £ B R 22 7)) (‘Shenzhen
YBDS’) signed a contract to design mobile web pages for marketing
on behalf of an information technology firm and its client as an end-
user and to provide technical support for them in running such web
pages for the client’s marketing campaigns. The services were

provided during the Reporting Period.
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PROSPECT

The business environment is expected to remain volatile and complicated
amid the uncertainty over the economic growth and escalating
geopolitical tensions. To cope with the situation, the Group will maintain
its prudent approach to business development and forge ahead with
business transformation and diversification.

In 2023, it will step up its effort to expand the business of value-added
services such as short-messaging services and to diversify into a front-end
business of selling wearable devices such as smartwatches for children that
will be installed with the information technology software and system
developed by the Group. The Group develops these less-labour intensive
businesses so as to exercise a tighter control on operating cost and, at the
same time, broaden the income stream.

Following the successful start of its cooperation with an information
technology company in providing a multimedia short messaging service
for businesses on behalf of a branch of a major telecommunications carrier
of China in Guangdong province during the Reporting Period, the Group is
going to sign separate contracts with two more information technology
companies to provide short-messaging services for businesses through the
networks of the country’s three major telecommunications carriers.

Meanwhile, the Group is also preparing to begin its front-end business of
selling smartwatches for children that can function as handsets for both
audio and visual communications, connect to the internet through Wi-Fi
and enable the wearers’ parents to track them through the global
positioning system (GPS). The smartwatches will be bundled with the
telecommunication services of a major telecom carrier in China. The Group
will be the general agency for the distribution of the smartwatches or
provide services that support the operation of such wearable devices as
hardware. The front-end business will enable the Group to build its brand
in the end-user market and thus create its brand awareness.
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The back-end businesses that the Group is running include internet
electronic identity authentication, electronic signature and Al services and
solutions. Such businesses are aimed at capitalizing on China’s booming
digital economy and the growing trends towards digitalization and
automation among businesses.

During the previous financial year, Shenzhen YBDS signed a framework
agreement to provide training in and consultancy on RPA for a software
and information technology service company. Such training in and
consultancy on RPA enable a leading telecommunications company to
provide some Al-based customer services such as answering customer
enquiries about outstanding fees and unused quota of data transmission
without involving any manpower. Such Al services and solutions not only
can replace manual workers in simple and routine jobs and thus can relieve
the pressure of the rising labour cost, but also can lay the foundation of big
data analytics, which can help companies to promote certain new services
or products among target customers.

All these initiatives not only can expand the income source to help the
Group get through the difficult business environment but also can add
impetus to its business development for the long term.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Company raised net proceeds of approximately HK$S100 million
through a subscription (the “Subscription”) on 5 August 2013 by issuing
450,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a subscription price of
HK$0.225 per ordinary share of the Company to Happy On Holdings
Limited ("Happy On"). Immediately after the completion of the
Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 72.83% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in (i) paying and contributing to the registered
capital, increased registered capital and further investment in Guangzhou
YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (E /M & 1E 15 B £t B R A 7]) (‘Guangzhou YBDS")
and Beijing YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (It B IE B (E SR AR A 7)) (‘Beijing
YBDS"), the two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
especially for Beijing YBDS in order to meet the minimum capital threshold
requirement when submitting bids for the proposed projects offered by
relevant telecommunication service providers in the PRC; and (ii) general
working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company applied
approximately HK$19,785,000 of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS. As the
Company acquired China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company
Limited on 23 December 2014, a holding company that owns a subsidiary
with the aforesaid threshold requirement for bids submission, Beijing YBDS
was no longer needed and had been deregistered on 17 June 2016. As
stated in the announcement dated 23 December 2014, the part of
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million originally earmarked for Beijing
YBDS's registered capital and the capital increase, together with the
remaining balance of the proceeds were then added to the Company’s
capital for new potential projects and general working capital purposes.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
3 June 2013, 5 August 2013, 20 August 2014 and 23 December 2014, and
its circulars dated 11 July 2013 and 10 November 2014, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a total amount of approximately
HK$18,984,000 of the net proceeds from the Subscription was utilised for
the same purposes as previously disclosed in the supplemental
announcement of the Company dated 20 February 2023 (the
“Supplemental Announcement”).
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As at 31 March 2023, there was an unutilised amount of net proceeds of
approximately HK$11,888,000, which was intended to be applied for the
purposes as previously disclosed in the Supplemental Announcement
(which include new potential projects and general working capital), with
the allocation of such unutilised net proceeds being revised, in the manner
set out below. The expected timeline for the intended use of the unutilised
net proceeds is as follows:

RZE_=F=ZA=+—H "  WAREBAEMEHE
SRREH) 51188800078 7T FEARLATRERAE
FIEEEN(BENEEEER—REEES &
BABAMEREFENDRE A EZUTIRE
) REAABRERTARNTEHENEERD
T

Amount utilised

Revised
allocation of the
unutilised net

Expected timeline

during Unutilised net proceeds for utilising
the year ended proceeds as at as at the date the unutilised net
31 March 2023 31 March 2023 of this report proceeds
BE-2-= R=TB== REHREBRH
=RA=+—8 =H=+—8 KB AEHIE BRADA
LEFEN HARE A RN RIEET FRS IR RN
EEHRAEE R PEFE TR B R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
TER FTHER FET
(8E49) (&) (BE4)
New potential projects 2,285 7,589 3,428 End of December 2023
¥7BEIR R —EC=F+ZAK
General working capital 16,699 4,299 8,460 End of March 2024
—REEES —EZNF=ZAK
Total 18,984 11,888 11,888
st

The Company continues to stay prudent in applying the net proceeds from
the Subscription and has placed the unutilised net proceeds in interest-
bearing deposits with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks. As
at the date of this report, the Company is yet to identify any suitable new
potential projects. In order to use the Group's financial resources in a more
beneficial and effective way and to cope with its business and operational
needs, the Company has allocated approximately HK$4.2 million of the
unutilised net proceeds from the purpose of new potential project to
general working capital. The Board estimated that the time for utilising the
remaining unutilised net proceeds from the Subscription for new potential
projects and general working capital will be by 31 December 2023 and 31
March 2024, respectively. The expected timeline for fully utilising the
unutilised net proceeds is based on the best estimations of the future
market conditions made by the Group and is subject to change based on
the current and future development of the market conditions.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2023 (the "Reporting Period") , the
Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$18,290,000, representing a
decrease of approximately 44% when compared with that in the year
ended 31 March 2022 (the “Previous Period”) of approximately
HK$32,800,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$10,108,000 as compared with profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$18,189,000 for the Previous
Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales has decreased by approximately
139%, while revenue from services has decreased by approximately 81%.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (Previous Period: nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2023, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$246,000. Current assets were approximately
HK$32,656,000, mainly comprising cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$3,493,000, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$8,210,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$20,105,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade
and other payables of approximately HK$20,760,000. The net liability value
per share was approximately HK$0.01. The Group’s gearing ratio, expressed
as a percentage of bank borrowings and long term debts over total equity,
was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio of current
assets over current liabilities, was 1.49:1 (as at 31 March 2022: 1.01:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and China. The Group's assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. The currency exchange rate risk of the Group is immaterial, and
the Group did not engage in any hedging activities. However, the
management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, the Group had no charges on the Group’s
asset.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 29 employees (including 7 Directors, one
of which resigned on 31 May 2023). (31 March 2022: 34 employees (including
7 Directors)). The total remuneration paid to employees, including Directors,
for the Reporting Period was approximately HK$7,175,000 (Previous Period:
HK$9,458,000). Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms
and the performance, qualification and experience of each individual
employee. Annual year-end double pay is paid based on each individual
employee's performance as recognition of and reward for their contributions.
Other benefits accruing to the employees include contributions made to
statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme.
We also subsidise our employees for pursuing further studies in related fields.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies during the
Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

In order to enhance the capital efficiency and to maximise the return from
the working capital of the Group, the Group reasonably and strategically
utilises the idle funds of the Group to conduct the subscriptions and
redemptions of wealth management products for investment purposes.

Going forward, the Group will continue to utilise part of its idle funds to
conduct the subscriptions and redemptions of wealth management
products, by taking into account of (i) the flexible investment term of each
of the wealth management products in which the Group is able to freely
subscribe additional or redeem part of the wealth management products
to cater the capital needs of the Group's operation; (i) the risk associated
with the wealth management products is relatively low and the wealth
management products are acquired from larger banks; (iii) the
subscriptions and the redemptions offer a better return than the prevailing
fixed-term deposit interests rates generally offered by commercial banks in
the PRC; and (iv) the subscriptions and redemptions have no material
impact on the operations and working capital of the Group.
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The significant investments held by the Group which were classified as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during

BE_T_=-"F=-A=1—"BLLEFE XKEHF
BAERBRATEFARMEHRENEREE

the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows: BERIZRENT
Percentage to the
Redemption Exchange Fairvalueasat  Dividend income total assets as at
Name of investment Cost during the year difference 31 March 2023 during the year 31 March 2023
it i3 H-%zz%
=B=1-H ZR=t-Af
RE&LH B FREE EXZR PN FRREMA  BEEHESM
(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
(Fi#m) (F#7n) (Fi7n) (Fi#n) (Fiém)
(#4) (#49) (#4) (#4) (#4) (#4)
hHAEAZ - BitE
BOC Rijiyuelei — Daily Plan* 3162 (175 (229) 1,185 76 325%
AR EER AR AR ENER
ICBC Ultra-Short-Term RMB Wealth Management
Product with No Fixed Term* 8081 (3035) (247) 4799 8 1315%
TRREHEAREENER
ICBC Ultra-Short-Term Legal Person RMB
Wealth Management Product* 8125 (7.445) 23 457 37 125%
THRY —EARHE LR FELRYER
ICBC Wealth Management  Legal Person ‘Tianlibao No.2'
Net Value Wealth Management Product* 3086 (2864) 22 - o4 -
THREE—EAHE BELENER
ICBC Wealth Management # Legal Person ‘Tianlibao"
Net Value Wealth Management Product* 3140 (2,864) (221) 55 55 0.15%
BERiTAR&REE
(CMB Ririxin Wealth Management Plan* 2864 (1,146) 4 1714 % 470%
AERTHEZERLERMERR ) RER LR
CMB Dianjin Series Aqgressive and Bulish Two-layer
Range 31 days Structural Deposit* 1976 (1833) (143) - 5 -
RERTHLZERLERMERR 6 RERILRT
CMB Dianjin Series Aggressive and Bulish Two-layer
Range 36 days Structural Deposit* 2222 (2062) (160) - 6 -
RERTHLZSIERMERR B RERILRR
(CMB Dianjin Series Bearish Two-layer Range 68
days Structured Deposit*) 291 (2.291) - - 13 -
RERTHRS (STEEY) B :HE
(CMB Chaozhaojin (multi-active) Wealth Management Plan®) 2062 (2062) - - 4 -
ARECEXAAARBERILER 065308
Win-win Zhixin Exchange Rate Linked RMB Structured
Deposit 06930* 3086 (28064) (222 - 4% -
400% (30218) (1,667) 8210 42




Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE S W LT

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
investment during the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2023
Annual General Meeting") will be held on Tuesday, 1 August 2023 at 2:00
p.m. at 29/F, The Gateway, Tower 5, Harbour City, 15 Canton Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2023 Annual General Meeting to be held at 2:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, T August 2023, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 27 July 2023 to Tuesday, 1 August 2023, both dates
inclusive. During this period, no transfer of shares of the Company will be
effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the aforesaid meeting, all
share certificates with completed transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 July 2023 for registration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the Code
Provisions set out in the Code throughout the Reporting Period except for
the deviations from Code Provisions A.1.8 (now rearranged as C.1.8) and
A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1) of the Code as explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8 (now rearranged as C.1.8)

Code Provision A.1.8 (now rearranged as C.1.8) stipulates that an issuer
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action

against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the board (the “Board”) of Directors
considered that under the current situations of close management of the
Group and business scale, the possibility of actual litigation against the
Directors is very low. The Company will consider reviewing various
insurance cover proposals and will make such an arrangement as
appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1)

Code Provision A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1) stipulates that the roles of

chairman and chief executive should be separate.

During the Reporting Period, the executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cai Dan
(who resigned on 31 May 2023), Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Ms. Ho Ching and Mr. Ho
Yeung focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating and implementing business strategies to
enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new
chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable
candidates have been identified for such purpose.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiries with each of the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprises the following members during the Reporting Period
and at the date of this report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023)
Ms. Ho Ching

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Mr. Wong Kin Kee

BETESETEERZ 2T

AAREREZHTESR SHEM—ERTTA
E KR N B A GEM _E T AR Bl 85 548 = 5.67 16 FT
FIZBEZE - gmEESEHETERE 2
REERANEEARESHEHE BT AR RRN
CZEEBEITEFR G ZNHEEEZERRTSTA

BERERREESS
EEEEM

ExegnBEAREHRARARS AHHENATKE
AARK

HITESE :

TEHLA

AL
BREE(R-_BE-_=FRA=+—B&F)
fAfE &+

BUFHITESE -
Mt Z kAt
WFEELE
HEEESLE




Corporate Governance Report
A"
TEEAWME

Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
financial and operating performance and discuss the Group’s direction and
strategy.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings during the

ExEE=2
EXeRIBFETHREHE AT B
BREEHEE - Wl mmARE 2T [ J SRR o

D% o

RIERE - ABTORESS

%
o

TREVNEENREPNEFESTS SR LHH

Reporting Period are as follows: 15
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
held during held during
the Reporting  the Reporting
Period Period
ER# HERE,
REREHA R R EHRE
B2 BiT2
EZg83 L BRRAEAH
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi B350 v 3/4 1/1
Mr. Ho Yeung ¥ fe A 0/4 0/1
Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023) BR_REE
(RZBZ=FRA=+—HEMD) 4/4 1/1
Ms. Ho Ching Al E& 2/4 1/1
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE A 4/4 /1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki kb 4/4 11
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEAESLAE 3/4 /1
Functions of the Board EEg R
The Board is responsible for formulating the Group's overall strateqy, ZEFEBEHIFIANEE BERE - ZE RitE

considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving the right to
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management system, as well as monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of such system. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group’s financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a risk
management policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management
policy covers various aspects including systematic risk identification and
assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and proposed agendas for all Board and committee meetings
are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors' inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, not less than one-third
of the Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any further appointment of an
independent non-executive Director, who has served the Board for more
than nine years, shall be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
the shareholders of the Company.

According to Code Provision B.2.2 of the Code, every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi (“Mr. Wang") was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed
term of service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
remuneration of Mr. Wang is determined with reference to his
qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group and
prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung (“Mr. Ho") was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the
Company on the day of his appointment and has renewed his service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1
June 2020. He has recently renewed his service contract with the Company
for a term of another three years commencing on 1 June 2023. His term of
office is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association.

Mr. Cai Dan (“Mr. Cai") was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 1 March 2021 and resigned as an executive Director on 31 May 2023
due to his wish to devote more time on his other personal endeavours. Mr.
Cai did not have a fixed term of service with the Company but was subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. The remuneration of Mr. Cai was determined with reference to
his qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group
and prevailing market conditions.

Ms. Ho Ching (“Ms. Ho") was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 18 June 2021. Ms. Ho presently does not have a fixed term of service
with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms. Ho is
determined with reference to her qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 17 May 2019. Mr. Tse has further renewed his
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another three years
commencing on 17 May 2022. His term of office is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
recently renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
another three years commencing on 1 June 2023. His term of office is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 3 April 2021. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the
current independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
of the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers that each of the current independent non-executive Directors is
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the Company’s articles of association or any other applicable
laws on the Directors’ removal or retirement. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-executive Directors,
are appointed until 16 May 2025, 31 May 2026 and 2 April 2024.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1) stipulated that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate.

During the Reporting Period, the executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang
Xiaogi, Mr. Ho Yeung, Ms. Ho Ching and Mr. Cai Dan (who resigned on 31
May 2023) focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating a new business strategy to enhance the
revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman
and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates
have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between each of the executive
Directors and other members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results and audited annual
results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee which is of the view that such financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, four meetings of the Audit Committee were
held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:

EXeNERZEERAASERREHM 2R
T R AR E A EER R -

RmEHE ERZEQERETHAGE B
ZEegRIJKEHFRESRFBNT
Attendance/
Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period

HERE,

RBEHBERTZ

EREEEERRK

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 4/4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WEEE A 4/4
Mr. Wong Kin Kee =EEELAE 3/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee’) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on (i) 4 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions; and (i) 15 December 2022 to
be in line with, among other matters, Rule 23.07A of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:

KBS FMERGERGT REH - FH
BN Cosulst ety

Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee meetings
held during the
Reporting Period

HERE

E“ﬁﬁ”:ﬁﬂfﬁfﬁiﬁz

FHNZESEB R

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA Il
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit EEE /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEASAE /1

The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if
appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

— the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in

compliance with the Code Provision A.5 (now rearranged as B.3).

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
(“Mr. Tse"), Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the
independent non- executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current
chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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Mr. Tse was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
15 May 2014. He has served his role as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years, his re-election will therefore be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant to Code
Provision B.2.3 of part 2 of the Code. The Nomination Committee
recommended the re-appointment of Mr. Tse at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. A circular of the Company containing, among other
matters, detailed information of re-appointment of Mr. Tse as well as the
considerations of the Nomination Committee in relation to its
recommendation of the re-appointment of Mr. Tse pursuant to the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules will be despatched to the
shareholders of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and to make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for monitoring the achievement of the
measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seizes the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

WEER—_ZT—NERA+THEREZTABIIE
HITESE - {ﬁETgTE§§¢3F¢ﬂfT§$LjL¢LAJ:
RIESFRIE — S5 FRIMEXB23 - HERETA
PAFEE BB F RE &R R SAE R R &%
REAME - REZESEZNEERIRBEFK
& FEEHEE - IRIBGEM ETRAIE A (B e
) EEH AR LA&&%?\ETEEE .:%1
EENZEERZNAQRFBEHETET AR

% o

RAEZBEZIZBAR/MEBEFTAE  U5E

BERINEBEZT HBEEERNESSELES -
EEECRMEFEXRERZLMBE  MERR
ERRRESRABRMEA A ERRALEK -

ARAERARIEEEFEXN B L TSR &
@ WIRFTERIRER - RERAIRHENGE S
B’ ARBREAEZFEXE L TR FHH
HERRBRBABRERARHEEREETR -

IHEEFE2HAMSE
BEFEEXEZ T - BRETRRVMER -
XEREEES FXELER HERA#E-
EEeBZZERUBARES RRA

ARTRASHEE
-

l:::]
ok

W =E

BABBUEBEETOEREFRRAZ T
2 -

RIS R EARYRTREH IR
EARKARRERHENT -

Attendance/

Number of
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Committee

meetings held during
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed
by the Board during the Reporting Period are disclosed and explained in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5 (now rearranged as C.1.4), all

BEEEI
BIBETANESCE ACSIR(REFRIERCI4E)

directors should participate in continuous professional development and 28 EELARITIHBETLHE  FHEARE
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Ei% RS EEENBBEATAEEERED

VNERENER - SBREESEANBERTR

board remains informed and relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution

to the Board remain informed and relevant, the Company will be ZEEE{EHUAEZTENEE - AQ jﬂﬁ%ﬁiﬁ?\%ﬁ
responsible for arranging and finding suitable training for Directors and ~ E%Hf - FHKABE 2 IZIIRAEIREES

providing for its funding.

ARBMGRHEEALTARNESTZRE  &F
K& UREEMGEEEEZZENGEF -

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

RBEMEMBEEA RS B
BlEz 2y U

BEEZEASE

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, an individual
training record of each Director is set out below:

Attending or
participating in
courses/seminars/

conference/
workshops

relevant to rules and
regulations and the
Group’s business/
directors’ duties

Reading materials
relating to rules
and regulations

and discharge of
directors’ duties and
responsibilities

HERSM
AAKEER
E=HEFREZ MERBRAR
A R EHIR BT
R e BEERER
= Y= EEzHH
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi THEREE v/ v
Mr. Ho Yeung fF A v/ v
Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023) BREE
(RZBZ=FRA=+—HEHE) v v/
Ms. Ho Ching fiE%+ v v
Independent Non-executive Directors VHHITES
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony WFETE v/ v
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Maks v v
Mr. Wong Kin Kee HEELE v v
B7RREARAT

B —FERE
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael ("Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is
accessible by all Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho Yeung and
Mr. Wang Xiaogi, our executive Directors, are the principal persons with
whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the Reporting Period, Mr. Tung has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period were audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (‘Prism”)
(formerly known as UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited) whose term of office
will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that Prism will be re-appointed
as the auditors of the Company subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company's auditors, Prism, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follow:

RNEAME

ARBEERE—RBINDIRG IR A RES KL (5
REDRERRANE BEXREFLNSNER
BARBERLE  EATESMFLERTER
BEERREEZEBMBEA - RHEHRHE - &
REBEZ DRI/ Z B EERIIART
HEBE RIBHE G -

*o BB 57 B

NS HIE  ARBERA M BRI G H E2EH
SEEEBAARAR (THEH]) (FEALESE.
07 (F8) @tiEHMARRAR) Fx - A EH
BREERRBFAG LER - BZEZEEER
EXxeEd  RENZTRARLRTZZHE
WRRARBBRRNEERRBFEAREG LA -

REHRE > RBEZRIFEZRGC N LEMAR
NGIEY G EE A e U

Type of Services HK$’000
FR 7% %8 51 FER
Audit services EiZ RS 510
Non-audit services HEZIRE -
Total HEt 510
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
effect from 1 January 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth.
According to the Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends, the
Company may declare interim dividends or special dividends from time to
time.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and
there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). In designing the Board’'s composition, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, there is one female Director on the Board. In
the future, the Board will continue to pay due regard to the importance of
diversity in identifying potential candidates for directorships and continue
to ensure that gender is one of the factors to be considered in appointing
Directors by the Nomination Committee.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the workforce
level. As at 31 March 2023, the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group
(including senior management) was 58:42 male to female.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitored the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy annually.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and
considered that the Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy during the
year. The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, together with the management, has developed the Group'’s
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure to
achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.
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Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

— the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

—  the extent and categories of risks that the Board regards as
acceptable for the Group;

—  thelikelihood of the risks materialising;

—  the Group’s ability to reduce the incidence of risks and the impact
on its business when risks materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

— monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

—  the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables a
cumulative assessment on the state of control in the Group and the
effectiveness with which risk is being managed;

—  the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

—  the effectiveness of the Group’s processes relating to financial
reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant, Roma Risk Advisory Limited (“Roma”), to execute the internal
audit function. Roma has conducted an internal control review of the
effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures, systems and
control for the Reporting Period in accordance with the requirements
under Code Provision C.2 (now rearranged as D.2) and the scope of review
agreed and approved by the Audit Committee.
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Roma reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee was
satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in the areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the recommendations on the internal control
deficiency. The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures and has
access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and responsibilities with
respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee and the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be effective and implemented with adequate resources
during the Reporting Period.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

— designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

—  designated persons and departments to determine further escalation
and disclosure as required; and

—  designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has followed up on those
recommendations made by the independent consultant as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the Reporting
Period.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditors of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Room 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in the paragraph headed "How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy and
considers that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Company has established various
and a wide range of communication channels with the Shareholders. These
include shareholders’ general meetings, quarterly results, interim results
and annual results, quarterly reports, interim reports and annual reports,
announcements and circulars and results announcement. In addition, the
Company updates its website from time to time to keep the Shareholders
updated of the latest information of the Company’s recent development.
The Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the
Shareholders. At the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet with the Shareholders and
answer their enquiries. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company
has strictly implemented the shareholders’ communication policy in
accordance with relevant requirements by conducting multi-channel
communications with the Shareholders and investors through various
methods, including the issuance of communication documents (such as
announcements and regular reports), updating the Company website, and
convening results announcements and shareholders’ meetings, etc. In view
of the above, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy, and considered
the policy effective.

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

Save for the adoption of the second amended and restated articles of
association of the Company by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 1T August 2022 to, among others, (i) bring the Company’s
articles of association to be in line with the relevant requirements of the
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the GEM Listing Rules, (i) enable
the Company to convene and hold electronic or hybrid general meetings
of members and (i) make other consequential and housekeeping changes,
there are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the Reporting Period. For details of
amendments to the Company'’s articles of association, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 24 June 2022 and its circular dated 30
June 2022, respectively.
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INTRODUCTION

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of system development services and other value
added technical consultation services and trading of hardware products.
The Group also has operations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”
or “China”) market in the areas of manufacturing of ancillary high-tech
software and hardware products; developing and establishing integrated
online platforms for the distribution of mobile products and the provision
of value-added services; and setting up joint ventures with multinational
companies to introduce and procure mobile application services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (“Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong Kong.

Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. R R {Z 8%
R % A BR A 7) (‘CITIC Cyber Security”) is principally engaged in the
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the PRC. Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co, Ltd. (M #8 18 { B £ B IR 2 7)) ('Guangzhou YBDS") and
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. CRYITH B 1% (5 B EHZ B R 2 7)) ('Shenzhen
YBDS") are telecommunications companies which construct unified
payment system and platform, and to provide training in and consultancy
on robotic process automation for a software and information technology
service company. All two subsidiaries located at an office in Shenzhen.

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
summarises the Group’s environmental, social and governance ("ESG”)
practices, plans and performance, and demonstrates the Group's
commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this Report covers the ESG activities,
challenges and measures taken by the Group from 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2023 (the “Year” or “2023").
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Reporting Scope

The reporting scope of the Report is consistent with that in the previous
reporting year (“2022") and is determined based on the materiality and
revenue contribution of the business segments under the Group's direct
operational control throughout the Year. The Report covers the overall
performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitment in ESG areas of
the Group's offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen, where the Group'’s
principal businesses are located.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’).

For the preparation of this Report, the Group has adopted the following
reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: The Group regularly conducts materiality assessments to
identify the material ESG issues to the Group's business, thereby adopting
the confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of the Report.
The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and Environmental Social and Governance Working
Group (the "ESG Working Group”). For further details, please refer to the
sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable assumptions
used in the calculation of key performance indicators ("KPIs") data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation approach of the
Report is consistent with the previous year for comparison purposes. If
there are any changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methods
that may affect comparisons with previous reports, the Group will provide
explanations for the corresponding data.

Balance: This Report avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence any decision or judgment by the Report
reader.
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MESSAGE FROM THE DIRECTOR

Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this Report which
demonstrates the Group’s growing commitment to improving the Group’s
ESG performance.

While the Group is committed to creating value for its shareholders, it also
strives to fulfil its corporate social responsibility. The Board is ultimately
responsible for overseeing the Group’s corporate governance and overall
ESG management approach. The Board plays a supervisory role in
collecting data, drafting and reviewing the Report. Information on the
Group's governance structure is set out in the section headed “Governance
for Sustainability”.

In order to prioritise material ESG-related issues, the Board continuously
communicates with the Group's stakeholders with reference to the
opinions of different stakeholders, and regularly invites them to participate
in the materiality assessment to assess the materiality of various ESG issues
and their risks to the Group’s operations. Information on the stakeholder
communication channels and the materiality assessment conducted by
the Group are set out in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” respectively. In order to better understand the
stakeholders’ expectations on the Group’s sustainable development, the
Group will further strengthen the communication with stakeholders and
formulate relevant sustainable development policies and measures with
reference to their opinions to improve the Group's ESG performance.

EETH

HENHHE
ANEREREFERIARE - AREHARE
Wy EREAKERE B REARR R

g
af °©

AEBEEBRNABRREEEENRE - T8 HE
TELCEHEGRET EFCRKAEEELAEE
MARIEARBRIRE HEREREENA-
SEeRWKEE  BENENARS T MEE
EEFR - BARAKEEARBAERNIRN [AH

BRRER] —H-

RBTEIERRE e REAHEBNEZE
EX22RTAFNENER  THEXKERF
EETER  WEMBHBMSRERENE
NHESRE e kB aREnNEREREY
AEEZENRAR - BAFNHENESRRELAN
SEETHEENNGHNER  2RER &
28| R [ERM%F ] B8 - REFHTBS)
EHAKEHERRNONE  ARERE—F
s BERD E KRR - 2E MR E R S EAERE
MAREEREE MER  ReASENRER -
HERERRA -

ETRHERRLAT
— T = FERL

43 4



> 44

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - g KERH®E

The Group is committed to minimising its environmental impact to ensure
sustainable business growth. As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
has been taking measures in different areas to reduce its environmental
impact and regularly reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. In
addition, the Group recognises the importance of setting targets for its ESG
performance. Therefore, the Group has set targets for ESG issues that are
material to the Group. The Board and ESG Working Group use the data
collected to compare the Group's performance in different years to track
the progress of ESG targets. To achieve the ESG targets, the Group
implements different environmental protection measures and raises
employees’ awareness of ESG. The Group believes that these objectives
and environmental protection measures can help raise the environmental
awareness of the Group’s employees and enhance the Group's ESG
performance to meet the expectations of stakeholders.

Wang Xiaoqi
Director
13 June 2023
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GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY

The Group has established the ESG Working Group to raise employees
awareness of ESG issues. The ESG Working Group is comprised of senior
management and general staff with adequate knowledge on ESG. Its
members span across different business departments. They are responsible
for executing the Group’s ESG measures, collecting and analysing ESG data,

’

giving suggestions to the Board on ESG issues and reviewing ESG-related
matters across the Group's different departments.

With the assistance of the ESG Working Group, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group's ESG performance, risk, opportunities
and targets. The Board and the ESG Working Group arrange meetings at
least once per year to discuss the effectiveness of the Group's policies and
procedures and seek opportunities to improve the Group's ESG
performance. The ESG Working Group reports its findings to the Board at
least once per year so that the Board can find solutions to manage the
Group's ESG risks and opportunities.

The Group has established a quantitative ESG performance management
mechanism that includes important ESG indicators to review the Group's
progress on the relevant ESG targets. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for assisting in the execution of the relevant measures to strive to achieve
the expected progress.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments and regulatory
bodies, employees, customers, suppliers as well as society and the public.
The Group discusses with the stakeholders through various channels for
their expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as shown below:

R in

ROERERE BRREEHE B8 TF -
HEBARMERAR - AEEBEBZBRENR
AWM ENPERNEENEMERE
BT -

Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations

B E BBERE ¥

Stakeholders - Annual general meetings and other general Financial results

%5 meetings WIS EE
BEAFERG REMBRRERE Corporate transparency
Financial reports PEFHE

Governments and regulatory bodies

BF R EEH#E

Employees

B8

Customers
B

Suppliers
HrEm

Society and the public
HE kAR
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HBHE
Announcements and circulars
NERIEK

Regular reporting

7E HABE %

Written or electronic communication
NEAREFHER

Public consultation

NG &)

Training and seminars
ol R &
Regular performance appraisal

EHIR RS

Customer services hotline and email
BRI EAR K BE

Company website

NGIEER

Supplier performance assessment
HER &I
Tele-conference

Eirga
AT

Community investment
tREE

ESG reports

RE - HERELRS

Sound risk management and internal
control

ToE b E I R AR R
Corporate sustainability

DEAFEER

Compliance operation
AR

Continuous communication
RHEBR

Beneficial cooperation

Ruratk

Career development

BRER

Competitive remuneration and benefits
BEBEF N H MR

Equal opportunity

TEHKE

Healthy and safe working environment
BEREZEIIERIR

Customer rights and interests protection
RIE 2 P A Bl

Customer privacy protection
RIEEFLE

High quality products and services

BEEm LR

Responsible supply chain management
BEMHERER

Business ethics and credibility
BEBEREE

Fair bidding

AFHRE

Supplier privacy protection

REHERMLE

Environmental protection
REGRE
Employment opportunities provision

RUERE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMMG

During the Year, the Group undertook its annual materiality assessment  RER » REB D ETEFETEE M TE - 5
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and surveys with internal and S5 R S NS R NSRBI HEETIHA R AL - U
external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating, RIS EEBEMEEBEZEANGE  RENTEE
environmental and social impacts towards its business. The management £ - XREBHAEX T ERENEEEEEENS
and employees who are responsible for the key functions of the Group ~ ZRERFERIANIRE - BN EFEHHLE - H 7
have participated in preparing the Report, and have assisted the Group in~ B4EIBIE - M@ REAEH @ W hZEET Y
reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing the HEBRIFHENEEN - AFEEREEEY
importance of these issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The material ~ IR3E - @ M EJARE °

ESG topics will be covered in the Report.

The Group's Materiality Martix for 2023
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CONTACT THE GROUP

BMEAKE

The Group values feedback from stakeholders. If you have any enquiries or
suggestions regarding the Report or the Group's performance in
sustainable development, please feel free to contact the Group by post. & -
The Group's contact is as follows:

Address: Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

AEBEGHNENRE - B THARESL
AEBEAFEERTANKRAAENERHRE
FHEFBABFT I ARAREEEER - AEE

BB
otk : HBEEFELITBISIREARP L1368
1308 &
A. RBE
RREE

Environmental Targets

The Group strives to minimize its potential impact on the
environment and takes sustainable development into consideration
when developing its business strategy. With the aim to address
shareholders’ expectations and concerns about ESG issues, and to
better manage the Group’s performance on material ESG issues, the
Group has set targets on GHG emissions, waste management and
energy consumption in 2022. The ESG Working Group will continue
to review the Group's progress towards its targets for each reporting
period and make efforts to achieve such targets.

The Group's environmental targets are summarised as follows:

AREBH B A EHRBEERNTERER
N WHEHIE R RAERE BRI SEER
REERRERE e REAEENTE
KRBT TEAMEEAREEENRE
HekEfEE LNRE  AREHE-F
“oFREREBHN  BRVEE KRB
MER - IRE G RERTENEKESE
R AKEESRENANBERER - I
HEREHBRE

o

AREBMRRBEHALAT -

Aspect Target Progress

Eal BE EE

GHG emissions Maintaining or reducing the total GHG emissions ~ Due to the decrease in the total floor area of
= RS intensity, using approximately 17.81 kgCO,e per  offices, the total GHG emissions intensity for 2023

Waste management
BEEYER

Energy consumption

RERIERE
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m?in 2022 as the baseline.
NZZEZZFFFHFRNIIN AT A
Lk E B R/RELE  #IHIFRALAERE
P E o

Maintaining or reducing the non-hazardous
waste intensity, using approximately 0.04 kg
per m?in 2022 as the baseline.

N—Z - —FBFHARDOMARTRE
£ BFAREEEREYEE -

Maintaining or reducing the total energy
consumption intensity, using approximately
22.82 kWh per m?in 2022 as the baseline.
N—B-_—FFFHRNNR2TRAKR
B @R EARREREE

Quantum Thinking Limited

is 65.09 kgCO,e per m? and the Group has decided
to update target baseline year to 2023 for the
upcoming year.
HAMEREEEEE N —T-=F8
BRAERBHERBERT T KSR T
“R(LREE - MAREDIREEFIRFH
AREEFR/R_-_T_=F-

Due to the decrease in the total floor area of
offices, the non-hazardous waste intensity for
2023 is 0.17 tonnes per m?, and the Group has
decided to update target baseline year to 2023
for the upcoming year.
MAMEEBIEMEE TR  —S2=FK
MEBREMERERTFHR0I7HE - MASE
ECATENRFNEEREEF AT =
E °

Due to the decrease in the total floor area of
offices, the total energy consumption intensity
for 2023 is 86.66 kWh per m? and the Group has
decided to update target baseline year to 2023
for the upcoming year.
HANEREEEEE NF  —T_=F8
LB E BT Y77 Ke666 T FLE -
ﬁ$%§ﬁ%i¥%%¢%ﬁ%%ﬁ¢ﬁ:



Emissions

The Group attaches great importance to good environmental
management, and strives to protect the environment to fulfil social
responsibilities of the Group. The Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to regulate the limited
GHG and non-hazardous wastes generated during operation, so as
to contribute to environmental protection and pursue sustainable
development.

Various sustainable development measures have been adopted to
address environmental responsibilities, including to encourage
employees to switch off the lights after the use of a room to reduce
electricity usage. The Group is committed to continuously improving
the ways these initiatives are being promoted.

During the Year, the major sources of GHG emissions included direct
GHG emissions from unleaded petrol consumption for vehicles
(Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and paper waste disposal
(Scope 3). The Group's total GHG emissions has decreased during
the Year but the total GHG emissions intensity has increased
significantly mainly because of the decrease in the total floor area of
offices.

In addition, the Group has introduced measures to raise
environmental protection awareness into its day-to-day operations.
Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy consumption
and paper wastage by ways such as (i) the establishment of general
guidelines for efficient use of resources; (ii) daily cost-saving
proposals such as the prior use of recycle papers for printing and
setting double-side printing as default setting to reduce the use of
paper; and (iii) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper usage.
Furthermore, the Group has encouraged green office concept and
promoted the 3R concept of “reduce, reuse and recycle”. It has
actively reminded its employees of the prevention of environmental
pollution and encouraged waste reduction.

There was no hazardous waste produced from the operations of the
offices in Hong Kong or Shenzhen. The Group’s major non-hazardous
waste produced from the operations of these two offices was office
paper. The total non-hazardous waste has decreased during the Year
but its intensity has increased significantly due to the decrease in the
total floor area of offices.
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As the Group does not consume a significant volume of water in its
business activities, the Group's operation did not generate material
discharges into water during the Year. Moreover, the amount of
water consumption of the Group represents the sewage discharge
volume.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's
emissions in the Year are shown in the table below:

Air Pollutant Emissions

The Group's air emissions mainly come from the consumption of
unleaded petrol during the operation of vehicles. To minimise the
impact on the environment, the Group has taken proactive measures
to reduce air emissions, such as regular maintenance and repair of
vehicles to prevent them from emitting excessive emissions due to
broken parts, etc., and strict compliance with emission standards.
The following table details the Group’s air emissions data:

Indicators (Note 1) Unit (Note 1)

HRAREEEEBEHTTIRHERERE
K Bt RERBRMANEEWLEEEX
EMEKEER - BN AERBHAKERE
TSREEAE ©

RER AEBY TABEAENERERM
ZRIOBEREBEN - [RI7K K i 2 BERUA
MEEBEREBEBRRYHARLER - A
BMERMERBEETRIU(PEARKM
BRFREE) (hFEARKMBEARRGE
PraiE)  (hEARANMBE YIS RR
Bax) (hEARKMEKSREA
E)  BAECERSRE GGG - BECED
BRE&H) REBCKOTRE R -

AEBEFAPRNEZRBEDIRFEO TR
FImNE

BRI RMBER
AEENZERSAMFREERBERHITR
BREFERNENTUH - AEERLHRE
BRHFE  AEECDRIEEERRD =
ROSRYBR - PIMERREREEEE
By b B A T HER S B BUEIR - SARAR
BTHIRE - TRFIAKREZERISED
PEr g -

2023 2022 (Note 2)

—E-—
EBE (K1) B (K1) —=EzZ= (Btet2)
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) g 194.22 N/A
=Rl a) ) A3 A
Sulphur oxides (SOx) g 2.94 N/A
k=g a7 ) TEMA
Particulate matter (PM) g 14.30 N/A
LY = S

Note 1: The calculation of air emissions is based on the How to Prepare an ESG Report
— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock
Exchange

Note 2: Since the Group does not own any vehicles or facilities that involve fossil fuels
combustion in 2022, no exhaust gas emissions (including nitrogen oxides,
sulphur oxides and particulate matter) are generated in 2022.
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GHG Emissions

BEREHERK

Indicators (Note 7) Unit 2023 2022

EBE K1) By —=== —Eo=F

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (Note 2) kg CO,e 531.98 N/A

HEAERBYME (S8R 1)(HiZ2) YN itV Ems

Energy indirect GHG emissions from electricity kg CO,e 24,088.23 32,118.23

consumption (Scope 2)
REMEENERREAZSREHNE (8E2) QF_atiREE
Other indirect GHG emissions from water consumption kg CO,e 309.41 322.56
and disposal of paper waste at landfills (Scope 3)
(Note 3)
KRR R G B AR R ER 8 AT —&EcES
e 2 (88E3) (M7 3)

Total GHG emissions kg CO,e 24,929.62 32,440.79

BERBHNESE Nt g

Intensity of total GHG emissions per m? of floor area kg CO,e/m? 65.09 17.81

(Note 4)
BYAAEEEENAERBHNEETE AFr=&ft SRR
(Kizt4)

Note 1: GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and are B BRI ERA SR E E A2
based on, including but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A WER (BFEATER) R BT R R
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources AEERRINESe TR REess
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the FTE DRSS MEBEIEE)  EET HIREE
“Sustainability Report 2022" published by HK Electric Investments and HK Electric EIEE NIREAR D R R (022 E A E T
Investments Limited and the “Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids BRE)A R A R A AR LR
in China for 2019 Emission Reduction Projects” published by the Department of BB TR Q019 EEREIER P E R EE
Climate Change of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s PBEEGS R E T o
Republic of China.

Note 2: Since the Group did not own any vehicles or facilities that involve fossil fuels Mtz BRAEE _T__FWEREETMATELR
combustion in 2022, no material amount of direct GHG emissions was generated BEARBORERE M-S —FUWEELX
in 2022. EERREREIHN -

Note 3: As the water supply and drainage facilities of the Group’s offices in PRC and Biat3 : BRI E R BB EE O KRB
Hong Kong are managed by the property management company, the Group EBIHRYEEERARER  WAKEF AL &
did not have water consumption record during the Year, hence other indirect $EFEKE - A FANEMEE (BE3)EE
(Scope 3) GHG emissions during the Year was only sourced from paper waste REEBEREREEHRES -
disposal.

Note4: As at 31 March 2023, total floor area of offices included in the reporting scope Wita: WZZE_ZF=ZA=+—HB FAREHEN

were 383 m? (31 March 2022: 1,822 m?). These data are used for other intensity
calculation as well.

MR EEAEAEEA3FAK(ZE =
=A=+—H8 :182FFXK) - AR IAE
AEEMBE -
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Wastes BEEY)

Indicators Unit 2023 2022

EE B —EC-= —E-C

Hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 1) kg N/A N/A

FELREREEMESE (Wit1) NI A3 A A3 A

Intensity of hazardous wastes produced kg/m? N/A N/A
per m? of floor area

BYHIAEHERBELNESEENTE NI PN T3 A T A

Non-hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 2) kg 64.46 67.20

FRELBREREREMEE (Hit2) NI

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes kg/m? 0.17 0.04

BEEZVTE R/ FHK

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes,
clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Note 2: This figure represents the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group,
which is office paper.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment. A number of initiative measures
designed to conserve resources have been introduced to promote
employees’ awareness of the need for resource conservation and
achieve efficient utilisation of resources.

Energy Management

As mentioned in the above “Emissions” section, the Group has
formulated the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the
Environmental Protection Management Measures for Offices to
minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. To implement
the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, employees are required to
switch off equipment, including air-conditioners, computers, printers,
photocopiers and lights when they finish work. Air conditioners are
set for indoor temperature between 24 to 26 degrees Celsius in
summer, with an aim to reduce electricity usage. In addition, the
Group has encouraged the installation of compact fluorescent light-
bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diode ("LED").

The Group's total energy consumption has decreased during the
Year but its intensity has increased significantly due to the decrease
in the total floor area of offices.
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During the Year, the Group's energy consumption mainly come from
the consumption of unleaded petrol during the operation of vehicles
and electricity consumption at office. Purchased electricity is the
main source of indirect energy consumption. The energy
consumption performance is summarised below:

Energy Consumption
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FR - AKENEREREIZREEWMITE
BREFHRETHARRAZERAE < HMNE
BENREZRERBRNERRIR - BERAER
RIRBRLAT -

RETROH ¥

Indicators Unit 2023 2022
B B —E-= —E-C
Direct energy consumption (Note 1) kKWh 1,938.27 N/A
BEERERE (M) TR A3 A
Indirect energy consumption (Note 2) kWh 31,252.65 41,580.00
B BERBRE (ffat2) FEES

Total energy consumption kWh 33,190.92 41,580.00
HBELIR BT TR

Total energy consumption intensity kKWh/m? 86.66 22.82

BREIREMERE

Note 1: Since the Group does not own any vehicles or facilities that involve fossil fuels
combustion in 2022, there is no direct energy consumption in 2022.

Note 2: Indirect energy consumption represents electricity purchased from external
sources and consumed by the Group.

Water Management

Since the water supply and drainage facilities of our offices in the
PRC and Hong Kong are managed by the property management
company, the Group was unable to obtain water consumption data
in the Year.

Since the Group did not consume a significant amount of water, no
quantitative water efficiency targets were in place during the Year.
However, water efficiency initiatives have been promoted as the
Group has reminded its employees to check the water supply
equipment, keep the water tap off when not in use and arrange for
immediate repairs in case of leakage or other damages.

Due to the Group's operational location, there is no material issue in
sourcing water that is fit for its purpose.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group's business operation does not involve production
process, no packaging material is consumed by the Group.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite that there is no significant impact on the environment and
natural resources from the operations, the Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to strive to reduce the
impact of its operations on the environment. The Group is dedicated
to providing employees a comfortable and green working
environment by cleaning the air-conditioning system including air
filters and air ducts regularly and selecting products with low or zero
volatile organic compounds emitted. Also, the Group encourages all
employees to participate in different kinds of recycling activities to
minimise the use of natural resources.

Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change has been affecting the
Group's stakeholders, business operations and communities in
different aspects. The Group has formulated the Climate Change
Policy to enhance its ability to respond to climate impacts and
mitigate the risks and impacts of climate change on the Group,
thereby helping the Group to adapt to and resist climate change.
During the Year, the Group has been paying close attention to the
impact of climate change as described below.
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Physical Risks

Extreme weather caused by climate change such as typhoons and
rainstorms may disrupt business operations in the short term. In
order to minimise disruptions to the Group’s business operations,
the Group has put in place a set of contingency measures for
adverse weather conditions as well as appropriate back-up of
important information to minimise the negative impact on the
Group's business.

In addition to the above, the Group is also fully aware that extreme
weather conditions may endanger the health and safety of
employees. Therefore, the Group has formulated comprehensive
typhoon and rainstorm arrangements to protect the health and
safety of employees in extreme weather conditions. The Group also
takes into account the different situations faced by individual
employees under extreme weather conditions as far as possible,
such as residence, nearby roads and traffic conditions, and adopts
flexible treatment methods depending on the actual difficulties and
needs of employees. For example, the Group implements a flexible
off-duty day schedule for employees. At the same time, under
extreme weather conditions, the human resources department will
remind and notify employees of the latest weather conditions
through communication software or emails.

Transition Risks

In terms of legal risks, the Group expects that the laws and
regulations related to climate change will become more stringent,
such as the possibility that local governments may adopt more
aggressive policies and measures to limit GHG emissions. As a result,
the Group may be exposed to legal risks and may have to incur
higher operating costs to comply with regulatory changes. The
Group has adopted a series of measures against possible legal risks.
The Group continuously monitors any changes in laws or regulations.
In addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive measures to
protect the environment, including measures aimed at reducing
GHG emissions. As the Group goes beyond compliance to strive to
improve the environmental performance of its operations, the Group
can quickly adapt to the more stringent regulations that may arise.
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SOCIAL
Employment
Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees
based on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the
recruitment process. To ensure that the rights and interests of
employees are well protected, employment contracts must be
discussed and agreed with prospective employees regarding salaries,
benefits, annual leaves and other employment related issue, prior to
signing by the employees.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Promotion, Compensation, and Dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance
reviews. Dismissals of employees have been performed in
compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment are set out in the
employment contract of every staff.

Working Hours, Rest Periods, and Benefits

Both the offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen are operated under a
five-day work week arrangement with statutory leaves provided such
as annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, in order to allow
employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has also
provided medical allowance, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong
employees only) and other benefits to employees. For employees in
the PRC, the Group will pay for their “five social insurance and one
housing fund” including endowment insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity
insurance and Housing Provident Fund pursuant to the law in order
to safeguard the benefits of social insurance of employees.
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Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Anti-discrimination FTERE  ZTERRER

The Group’s human resources policy states and their management REBZANERBEZAREETEEME
ensures that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of R AREERNER - ER - BIRAR - FEE
age, sex, marital status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality RS EER - B EEEE - BEXTHET
or religion, etc. Any form of discrimination is prohibited during any EAFEEEAIER - e iEH E EE NG
of their decision-making processes, including normal operations and HEFRFr MR SE P 22 | E (R AR ©

any recruitment process.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 26 employees (including RZZE_=F=ZA=+—8 KAEBEEHLE
4 Directors) (31 March 2022: 34 employees (including 7 Directors)), Aot EE (BIE4BES) (ZE2F=
25 of them were full-time employees and 1 was part-time A=Z+—H #EZEE(BE/RESE))
employee®? The distribution of workforce classified by different HR2SAREHRES - 1 ARFEBER W -
categories is as follows: BRTRERIEID 2 BEABSMINT :
By gender By age group
R R REREAR

H Female  ® Male m Under 30 years old m30-50 years old m Over 50 years old
pogid S 30BRA T 30ARZE505% 50B%A
By location
it B

W PRC m Hong Kong
H B

Notel: Employee data of 2023 has excluded independent non-executive directors. Ftat1: —E-=F7REHECHBRBIIEHITE
£
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:g:ziﬁ%% 57 4

PP R A A P R A S A A i A i M S ey T g S ST S



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
miz S A7 AN A
RIE (g NEIRWMEG

» 58

During the Year, the Group's turnover rate is 14%. During the Year,
the Group's employee turnover rate is as follows:

FR - AREORBER14%  RFER - &K
SEMERRAZMT -

2023 2022
Employee turnover rate (Note 1) BERKLE (K1) —E—-= —E-=
By gender 1R 8lo
Female 1 8% 17%
Male S 18% 11%
By age group RERED
Under 30 years old 30 AT - -
30-50 years old 30 E 505% 20% 20%
Over 50 years old 50 BRA £ - -
By geographical region RiLEE D
PRC [ 18% 17%
Hong Kong B - -

Note 1: Calculation method of turnover rate (by category): (total number of departures
(by category) of that year + (total number of employees (by category) at the
beginning of the year + total number of employees (by category) at the end of
the year) + 2) x 100%

Health and Safety

The Group highly values employees’ health and safety and is always
committed to providing employees with a healthy, safe and
comfortable working environment. The Group strives to eliminate
potential workplace health and safety hazards and implement safety
management measures, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in the PRC, installing air purifiers at offices and providing
medicines for employees in case of sickness, to ensure employees’
health and safety during work. The Group has implemented the
Regulations for Management on Employee Safety and Health to
uphold its people-oriented principles and employees’ health and
safety.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the
Group has established a set of health and safety management
practices to enhance their safety management and promote
employee safety awareness and, established safety measures, for
example, they will regularly send emails and relevant materials to
employees to advocate the importance of a safe working
environment.

During the Year, the number of working days lost by the Group due
to work-related injuries was zero (2022: zero). No work-related
fatalities occurred from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023. The Group
will continue to strive to ensure the safety of its employees.
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Under the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group remains highly vigilant to
the potential impact on the health and safety of its employees. Apart
from strengthening the sanitation in the office area, the Group has
provided surgical masks, disinfectant, and alcohol wipes. Besides, the
Group implemented precautionary measures such as temperature
screening before entering the office, and constantly update relevant
policies to keep in line with the government’s guidelines.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Provisions on the Administration of Occupational Health at
Workplaces of the PRC and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages
them to participate in continuous learning through their career. The
Group has its tailor-made [T-related examination system for internal
employees of most of the departments. Apart from this, it has also
provided training courses to employees or subsidised them in
joining external training courses organised by professional bodies.
The Group has established the Company Employee Training
Management Measures to standardise and promote the continuous
and effective provision of training to employees. A training plan is
developed by the management based on the requirements from
various departments and employees. On the other hand, learning
experiences will also be provided to employees through job
allocation, improvements in soft skills will also benefit employees in
their career development in the long run.
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During the Year, the Group’s employees received a total of 126 hours
of training (2022: 186 hours). The percentage of trained employees
and average training hours completed per employee of the Group
by category are as follows:

RER REBNEIESAEH 126/ EF (=

%::i 186 /NEF) 155l o AN EIHREE R E
PHESFINETIESEEFHEUET

EEAMEINRENT

2023 2022
Percentage of employees trained (Note 1)  ESIZIINET B (FaE1) —E-=fF —=E_=
By gender gk bs)
Female pogid 36% 54%
Male ES] i 40% 39%
By employee category BRETIERE S
Executive directors WITES 100% 100%
Management EILfE 100% 100%
General staff —METL 6% 15%
2023 2022
Average number of training hours for EIFHE TR IIRE —=E=-= —=E=-=
employees (Note 2) (Kat2)
By gender R R &2
Female 4 491 762
Male St 4.80 483
By employee category RETIERE S
Executive directors BITES 13.00 13.00
Management == 12.80 1343
General staff —METL 0.59 2.00

Note 1: Calculation method of percentage of employees trained by category: (number
of employees trained in that category + total number of employees in that
category at the end of the year) x 100%. Training data of directors include those
from executive directors

Note 2: Calculation method of training hours by category: total training hours of
employees in that category + number of employees in that category at the end
of the year. Training data of directors include those from executive directors.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the
Group. During the Year, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child
labour and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention
of child labour and forced labour were included in the Employee
Handbook and human resources policies.
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Personal data is collected during the employment process to select
suitable candidates and verify candidates’ data. The identity
documents such as physical examination certificates, academic
credentials, identity cards, and account information are carefully
checked in the recruitment process. Furthermore, employees of the
Group working overtime are based on voluntary principles so as to
avoid the violation of labour standards and safeguard the rights and
interests of employees. To prevent any form of forced labour, a job
description outlining the principal responsibilities of the employee is
attached to the labour contract. The Group also prohibits any
punitive measures, management methods and behaviours such as
abusive punishment, violence, mental stress, sexual harassment
(including inappropriate language, posture and physical contact) for
any reason.

If child labor or forced labor is found to be employed as a result of a
breach of the requirements under the Employee Handbook and
human resources policies, the Group will immediately stop the work
of such child labour or forced labour and conduct investigation.

Each department of the Group has designated personnel responsible
for regularly tracking and understanding the updates of regulations,
and will notify the affected departments in real time to comply with
the latest laws and regulations, and to fully implement the
compliance principle. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to the prevention of child and forced labour. The relevant
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong
Kong.

Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and
business partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line
with the Group. Therefore, the Group has adopted the Supplier Code
of Conduct, which outlines the sustainability standards and practices
that the Group expects its business partners and suppliers to comply
with. Its partners are all worldwide reputable companies and known
for their ethical standards. In selecting and evaluating its suppliers
and business partners, their attitudes towards environmental and
social issues, including human rights, equal opportunities were also
considered. During the Year, there were a total of 3 major suppliers
and all of the 3 major suppliers were located in the PRC.
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The Group strictly follows the procurement procedures to evaluate
the business practices of its suppliers. In the procurement process,
suppliers are assessed based on price, reputation, track record,
initiative to tackle problems, customer service and product and
service quality. During the Year, 3 suppliers were qualified suppliers
that met the standards in the Group's regular evaluation (2022: all
major suppliers) . If the Group discovers any violation of the code by
its business partners or suppliers, the Group will try to communicate
with them to rectify the situation.

Environmental and Social Risks Management

The Group requires environmentally friendly practices on its
suppliers and business partners. For example, it required its business
partners to be certified with the ISO14001 or GB/T24001 or other
related environmental management system certifications. During
the supplier and business partner selection processes, it considers
environmental protection as one of the key assessment criteria and
expects the potential impact on the environment to be minimised
during normal operations by its suppliers and business partners. The
Group has also set up health and safety requirements for its suppliers
and business partners, for example, business partners have to be
certified with OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related
occupational health and safety management system certifications.
The Group regularly reviews the compliance of its supplier
candidates with laws and regulations, including those related to the
environment and society. If the suppliers fail to properly control their
environmental and social risks, they may not be retained in the
Group's list of approved suppliers.

The Group continues to pay attention to the policies implemented
by the local governments where it operates. If the Group finds
information on environmentally friendly products or services
published by the official authorities, the Group will seriously consider
adopting the recommendations of the official authorities to procure
goods and services that have less impact on the environment during
the product cycle. The Group closely monitors the environmental
impacts of its suppliers and explore improvement potential to
further optimise its supplier management practices.
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Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand
effect and product quality. Besides setting high requirements for its
suppliers and business partners during its selection phases, the
Group has also emphasised product quality improvements, provided
after-sales services to its customers, and has continuously worked
closely with its customers and business partners to solve problems.
The Group has adopted the Shipment and Return Management
System to standardize the Group'’s shipment and return procedures
to ensure the fulfilment of sales contracts.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress. The relevant
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests, the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Quality Management

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects are
utmost important for sustainable development of the Group. In
order to ensure that the Group delivers high quality services and
sustainable projects to its customers, the process of the projects is
controlled and monitored regularly. By conducting a series of tests,
actual results are compared with the expected results, so as to
identify any abnormalities and areas for improvement and strive for
excellence. The Group ensure that each customer’s needs are met
and that the standard and outcome of every product is consistent.
During the Year, no recalls of products had taken place.

The Group carefully manages and monitors the quality of products.
All products the Group sells are properly labelled to help the Group
to keep track of its products. If there are quality issues with the
products sold by the Group, the Group can use the label tracking
system to promptly identify the source of defects and the defective
batch of products. When necessary, the products will be recalled to
rectify the issues and prevent recurrence in the future.
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Customer Service

The Group continuously improves the quality of its products and
services. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately
assess the complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the
matter to identify the source of the issue. If customers are not
satisfied with the quality of products and services or have safety
concerns about products and services, the Group will arrange
sufficient channels and personnel to communicate with customers
in a timely manner and solve the problems as soon as possible.
During the Year, the Group did not receive any complaints from
customers due to product quality or customer service quality (2022:
nil).

Privacy and Intellectual Property Protection

As a responsible service provider, all confidential data related to the
Group's business, financial and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Besides, confidentiality
agreements must be signed between the Group and its suppliers
and business partners to protect customers’ data and privacy.
Employees are trained to maintain the confidentiality of customers’
information.

Regarding the Group’s trademarks, terms in relation to such
intellectual property rights are included in the cooperation
agreements between the Group and its suppliers and business
partners. The Group recognises the importance of intellectual
property protection, so it is dedicated to protecting and enforcing
the Group's own IP rights as well as the IP rights of third party.

The Group regularly reviews the effectiveness of the confidentiality
agreements and the terms in relation to intellectual property rights
to evaluate whether any pattern of improprieties or alleged
improprieties exist that need to be addressed.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations including the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China and continues to
strengthen fair marketing practices. The Group has regulated the
conduct of marketing personnel in the process of advertisement
release, product sales and contract signing, strictly prohibiting the
dissemination of misleading and ambiguous product information
and excessive commitment, and protecting customers’ information
rights.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such
as bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. As stipulated in
the Employee Handbook, all employees are required to uphold
business integrity, safeguard confidential information and take
reasonable steps to avoid any conflict of interest. The Group believes
that its employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained
a strong ethical conduct during regular business.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of
noncompliance with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to, the People’s Republic
of China Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group's issuer or its employees during the Year.

Corporate Governance

The Group realises the importance of internal control to a
zero-corruption company culture. Information on preventing conflict
of interest is included in the Employee Handbook of the Group and
was distributed to all employees to follow. Besides, during every
tendering process, an Integrity Agreement must be signed by both
the Group and the suppliers or business partners. The Group has
ensured that all relevant parties will act in accordance with its
requirements on anti-corruption in order to prevent any bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering during the operation.

As stated in the Employee Handbook, employees should not have a
financial or other personal interest in a transaction between the
Group and any of its business units and a vendor, supplier, provider
or customer in order to avoid conflict of interest. Employees are
required to declare situation which may present a conflict of interest
to their supervisors and the Board will be notified.
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The Group is committed to raising employees’ awareness through
providing training on ethical conduct and anti-corruption to all
employees and the directors of the Group. The Group's directors and
staff regularly receive anti-corruption training to enhance their
knowledge on anti-corruption legislation as well as necessary skills
to handle ethical dilemmas at the workplace. During the Year, a total
of 10 personnel (2022: 11 personnel), including directors and staff,
received anti-corruption training and the total anti-corruption
training hours was approximately 10 hours (2022: 11 hours).

In addition, the Group has formulated a whistleblowing mechanism
that allows all employees to report on any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices, or irregularities to the Board, a
responsible director or the audit committee. Reports and complaints
received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner. Such
mechanism also aims at protecting whistle-blowers from unfair
dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted disciplinary actions.

To monitor the effectiveness of the whistleblowing mechanism, the
Group reviews all complaints received regularly and conducts
investigations if any pattern of improprieties or alleged improprieties
exist that need to be addressed.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible corporate, the Group is committed to
serving the communities where it operates. The Group recognises
the importance of the welling-being of the local communities to the
continuous growth of its business. Therefore, the Group follows its
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy to encourage its employees to
take part in a wide range of community activities. The Group believes
that by participating in community activities, the Group can increase
employees’ awareness of citizenship and build positive value.

During the Year, the Group did not contribute resources to make
community investment due to the social distancing measures amid
the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the Group has actively
considered spending money or time to benefit the community in
the future.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2023

AEEBNBARNEZEET RAEBESIR
HEERTRERESHEINRSEENE
B AEEEENETITHESRESE
A LIRSS RESERN T B KRE
BTESATBERENNERE - RFER -
BEEEIREIAANABRIOA(ZE
—ZFE N ANERRESEI RESE
BB R0 N ( T —F 11/ o

BEON - ANEREFIE B HEF]  AFFABET
MEXE AEEFIEITZEQHREEM
ARENTE  TNETR  BERERTA -
YRR MR RSEE R R AT RIE -
ZHEHINE EREBBALETRTFHE -
RERBENLCERED °

RERBHEFINERE  AREEHES
PR BB P 15 - SRR 2 AR
M NETTRICHIR T ETRAOIBI NHETTH
E o

HERE

ERBRHEREENDE  AEEZ RS
HELMEmLR - ARERNE iR
BUHEEXBREERNERE - Bt -
SEERECERUERETIRR  BWETE
HEZHLRES - AREMEE  BBEZ
HEREE AREANLRESEINA
& BUTEGOEE -

E W

~

H W
t

cll

RER - B COVID-19 & 15 B )4 32 SR At
Tt ARERERABERETHRRE -
AW AEECDREREEBRIASENE
&Rt e -



INDEX TABLE OF ESG REPORTING GUIDEOF THE B F(IRIE - LB R ERBEES))

STOCK EXCHANGE (1) EEE()
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Sections
BHRERE =
Governance Structure Message from the Director
BRI EETE
Governance for Sustainability
ARERRER
Stakeholder Engagement
rnE2HR
Materiality Assessment
BEMFE
Reporting Principles About the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
T ¥ R Al — Reporting Framework
BRIRE e RERRE — MEER
Reporting Boundary About the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
[ e 6 = — Reporting Scope

BARIRIR g REARE — HEHE




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - He REAWmE

INDEX TABLE OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE ()

B R
e E ()]

5 dERERBEESD

Subject Areas, Aspects,

> 68

General Disclosures and KPIs ~ Description Section/Statement
TEHE - BEH —REER
HRERES it B,/ BH
A. Environmental
A RIT
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: HHY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIKEE BUHBERRAZREHEN  MAkRTHOEES  EEREZEEENNE  HHEY
&
@ BE: R
) BTHBTABERTENERERZRAM
mﬁﬂ
KPIAT. The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Not applicable (explained)
ﬁﬁﬁﬂhﬁAH HERE R AR HE AR TER (B#E)
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions — GHG
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of ~ Emissions

BRERUER A

KPI'A1.3

BRE IR A

KPIA1.4

RRERIEIZAI4

KPIA1.5
FRERUER A

KPIA1.6

FRE IR A
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production volume, per facility).

BE(SBE) R REEZ (8E 2) R = REHRE AR E) k(4
BE(MASESEN - BERETE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
rEARERENEE (UEAE) R (ER)ZE (NAF
BERETE) o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)
PrEAREREENEE (UEAE) R(ER)ZE (NAZESEN
FERMEAE) -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

nEm)

EEEN

RATET U BV BE N B B iR R R E TS & B 1R PTERER A P8R
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

MERAE REZEZMNAE - Rl ATE] ZeRE R R AES
BB IEFTERE AR
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TELSER  BEH —REER
HRERES

Description

i

Section/Statement

B BH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2: ERER

General Disclosure

—fREE
KPIA2.1
R ERUER A2
KPI A2.2

BB RAUERA22
KPI A2.3

B IEMIRIRA23
KPI A2.4

PSR 1R A24

KPIA2.5

RSB AUEIR A2S

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BMERER(BIEER  KREAMRME) BBE o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas
or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
RENEDMER R/ SMEER(NE  f¥oh) BREUTETR
Bt E) REE(WWASEESM - BERMEAE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRKEREE (WASES SN BEREAE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

TP ET M M RE IR AR B R R AE DG L B IRPTERIRE) P 5R
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
FHCKEVER KR LAl B R - ARATEI AR EE B RAE
FIELBEAMERIRE SR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Rk A BRMHHBE (AR k(NEm) 8 £EEMEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3:  RERXAER

General Disclosure

—REE
KPI A3.1

B EIEIZ A3

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EE A4 : RIREL

General Disclosure

—RE
KPI A4.1

PR IR IR A4

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.
REETAERERAAERERNEATZENBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

W EBEHHRERRAERNEAYERERNEREHY BT
& o

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BAIREHE LRI ESHETAEEYENEARIKEAEENRER
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

HARERAREHFTAELFENEARRIEREE - REHTH -

Use of Resources

BRER
Use of Resources —
Energy Management

BERER —EREE

Not applicable (explained)

TER(BERE)
Environmental Targets,
Use of Resources
RxBR - BRER
Use of Resources —
Water Management

BRERA —KER
Not applicable (explained)

TER (BRE)

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RERRRER
The Environment and
Natural Resources
BRERRARER

Climate Change

TR
Climate Change —
Physical risks; Climate
Change — Transition risks
RIRB—BBRER: R
R —BR @R

ETRHERRLAT
— T = FERL
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs ~ Description Section/Statement
TEER  BE —REER
BREYESR it B,/ BH
B. Social
B.4E
Aspect B1: Employment
BB : (&
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIKE ERHHRRE BEREA  ITERE BRE TSHe St EE
P s AR A B E At 55 388 S A A Y -
(@ BE: Rk
(b) BFHBETABEATENREEERARM
HER -
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-  Employment — Equal

PSR AR 1R B,

KPIB1.2

PSR 1R B1.2

time), age group and geographical region.

IR BREEL (M2BRRE)  Fhh tRENNEREH -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RIER - FRAER MBS DNEBRKLE o

Opportunities, Diversity,
and Anti-discrimination
ERE—FEHE 2l
KRR

Employment — Equal
Opportunities, Diversity,
and Anti-discrimination
B —TEke 2t
KRR
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPls

IRER EH -REER

Description

Section/Statement

HREANES b B8/ 89
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EmEB2: REEZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
—RE FRRRZETHERENREREEREBEMEEN BERLZE
@ BE: K&
b) BTHETABBEAZENABERRRM
BER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past  Health and Safety
three years including the reporting year.
R AR ME1R B2 BEZF (ARERFR)BFRITHNMABRLE - BERLZE
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B AR IE 1R B2 AIBELIERSR - BERZE

KPIB2.3

PSR 1R B23

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HLA RN BRERRER2HR - URBBRTRERTE -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : BREKXIEII

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B3.1

PR R 1R B30

KPIB3.2

RN IEIER32

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses
paid by the employer.

BERAEERETTEREN B RENBE - fHlEEaE -

HisE - EIEBEREY - TR EREEZINERNNINERE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUPIRESER(NSRERE TREEES) SN IEERD
ke

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
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Health and Safety
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Development and
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Development and
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs ~ Description Section/Statement
TEHE - BEH - —REER
HRERES b B,/ B0
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETHE B4 : 55 T#A
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RRE ABADTIEE Toaa |45 Th - B ITHR|
@ BE: K&
) BTHETABERTENEBER IR
méﬂ
KPIB4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child  Labour Standards

and forced labour.

FIRAE MIEIR B4 f iR FRESIE DI A0 HE DA 2 B T R 55 B ITHR|
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.  Labour Standards
RIS REIZ 642 BOEERERERE SR ABERMRRNSE - 4 T8
Aspect B5: Supply Chain management
[EmEBS : ftiEREERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.  Supply Chain
Management
— R ERMHEREAIRE R GRRBE - fHEERER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
Management
F R AE AUE 1R BS.1 iR e S HERHE HERER
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are  Management
implemented and monitored.
FESRAE BT B5.2 HAEREERERENED  MERTEEEMNNHERRE  UkE HERER
BIEMINHITRERAE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks ~ Supply Chain
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. ~ Management —

Environmental and Social
Risks Management

R ERIEEB53 HREEHAHEEGERONRE R GRMAEN - UREENT H“EEERE —BRK
RERF % o HERRER

KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable  Supply Chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are  Management
implemented and monitored. Environmental and Social

Risks Management

MR ERUEIRBSA HAERERERREESRRARERMRGHOEN - URBEERITR H®EZEE —REX

BER7E - HERERER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
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BREVESR

Description
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Section/Statement

1L

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[ETB6 : EmET

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI B6.1

AR B RUE R BO.
KPI B6.2

AR R B6.2
KPIB6.3
AR IEIERB63
KPI B6.4

RASRIE IR IR Bo4
KPIB6.5

R EMIEIZR65

PPV INI IR I I I I 4
T : s

L Sl ot o b

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

FAMREERNMRBOREERZS  BE  RENLBEEUARER

TR

@ BR: &
(b) EFHEITABEATEMBRERLRA
HER o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons.

BEFRERERAETRT 2 EERBHAMERKNE L
Number of products and service related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

BREBNEMRRGHORFERE N REETTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

it B A AR AR B ARV 1B B
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HnE ERTERENRERCKER -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

HEEEEHRERALEBE  AREBRTRERE -

Product Responsibility

ot
2o
i
=)

Product Responsibility

— Quality Management
EmEf—E=EE
Product Responsibility

— Customer Service
EmEE—EPRS
Product Responsibility

— Privacy and Intellectual

Property Protection
EmEE —RELEK
HBERE

Product Responsibility

— Quality Management
EmEE—EEER
Product Responsibility

— Privacy and Intellectual
Property Protection
EmEE — RELRE K
HBERE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
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HRERES
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Description

i

Section/Statement

B BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EBmB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—REE

KPIB7.1

RSB RUEIR B

KPIB7.2

AR RAUIER B2
KPIB7.3

PR E IR IR 873

Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRAILEBE - $R - BGEFROARER
@ BE: K&
) BTHETABERTENEBER IR
méﬂ
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
#Eﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁAﬁﬁﬁE%ﬁﬁE%ﬁ%é

*/\ z:t

SHFERFRITROBE Kok

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
P E IS I MR RE - U RABRRI T RER A

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HEAEFERE TRHENRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HEKRE
General Disclosure
—MEE

KPI B8.1

BRI IEIE RS T
KPI B8.2

Bt R IR1R B2
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Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
BRI EBE2ERTRBETAEENEHERE
BAHENZEAEE o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EXEREE (NHE  BEFH SIFK @R ik -8BF)-
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIHRAHAER(MSEIRRE) -

MERAREEHEE

Quantum Thinking Limited

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RE)S

Anti-corruption —
Corporate Governance
REF—REER
Anti-corruption —
Corporate Governance
RES —¥ER

Community Investment

HEERE
Community Investment

HRKE
Community Investment

HREE



Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EENESRERECEE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi ( E B2 5 5t 4 ) (‘Mr. Wang'), aged 44, was appointed
as an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
1 August 2017, 30 July 2018, 5 August 2020 and 1 August 2022,
respectively, and a director of nine subsidiaries within the Group. He has
been a business manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT Co., Ltd* (/51 {E &
MEAER AR,

since May 2014. He has over 15 years of working experience in the

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,

telecommunication industry in China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang
was the deputy general manager of Hua Strong Network Science and
Technology Limited Company* (£ X 48 #& % £ B R 2 7)) and Beijing
Huaqin World Technology Limited Company* (1t REZ) KRR AR A
8]), both of which were former indirect subsidiary of the Company, from
2000 to 2014. Mr. Wang resigned from both companies in April 2014. He
obtained a bachelor's degree from Beijing University of Technology (1t 52 T
¥ K 2)in Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this
report, Mr. Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not have
any interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang
does not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the last three years, nor does he hold any other major appointments and
professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EELANEEECERE

Mr. Ho Yeung (A% 5 4) (‘Mr. Ho"), aged 67, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 3 August 2017, 5 September
2019 and 1 August 2022, respectively. Since 1999, Mr. Ho has been a senior
executive at a leading high-tech software company in China and has held
the post of executive director of a renowned real estate company in China
for more than ten years. Since 1994, Mr. Ho has been on the board of
members of the council at the China Association for the Promotion of
Investment. Mr. Ho was an independent non-executive director of China Gas
Holdings Limited (stock code: 384), a company listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), from 12 December 2012 to
27 November 2017. As at the date of this report, Mr. Ho is interested in
18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares in issue of the Company. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not have any interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not hold any other position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market
in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, nor does he hold any other
major appointments and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Ms. Ho Ching (fiJ4E ) ("Ms. Ho"), aged 30, was appointed as an executive
Director on 18 June 2021 and was re-elected on 2 August 2021. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Humphreys
College (now known as Humphreys University), California, the United States
of America in December 2014. Ms. Ho has been working as a representative
of Canfield Securities Company Limited since April 2019. She served as an
Investment Consultant of Convoy Financial Group Limited from March
2017 to March 2019. Ms. Ho is a representative licensed under the SFO to
carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activities. Save as disclosed
above, Ms. Ho does not hold any other position in the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last three years nor does she hold any other major
appointments and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Ms.
Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EENESRERECEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (3 & %4 ) (‘Mr. Tse”), aged 53, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and was
re-elected on 23 June 2014, 1 August 2017, 5 September 2019 and
2 August 2021, respectively. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree with
honors in Finance and Accounting from University of Salford, the United
Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from
Richard Ivey School of Business, The University of Western Ontario, Canada.
Mr. Tse is a member of each of lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society,
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants
Exchange, Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong
Securities Professionals Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United
Kingdom and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse
has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting and
has worked for several international accounting firms, investment banks
and the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse is currently a managing director of
corporate finance department in Essence Corporate Finance (Hong Kong)
Limited and acts as its principal under the sponsor regime. Mr. Tse was a
non-executive director of Century Energy International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited and
Fairson Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30
April 2015. Mr. Tse was also a non-executive director of Millennium Pacific
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8147) from 6 October 2014 to 17 July
2017. Mr. Tse is a responsible officer licensed under the SFO to carry on
Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities. Mr. Tse does not have any interests in the shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Tse does not hold any other position in the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last three years, nor does he hold any other major
appointments and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Tse is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EELANEEECERE

Mr. Lau Chor Ki (#1235 554 ) (‘"Mr. Lau’), aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-elected
on 3 August 2017, 30 July 2018, 5 August 2020 and 1 August 2022,
respectively. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in Management from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong Kong Management Association),
a certificate programme on writing precisely what you mean from the
Hong Kong Management Association, a certificate of Practice in Chinese
Property Laws — a distance learning certificate programme from the Hong
Kong Management Association. Mr. Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank group
(stock code: 00011) and had served in the group for 40 years from 1973 to
2013. During this period, Mr. Lau worked in various departments including
retail banking, loans department, credit control and administration. Also, he
was a department head monitoring the central cash of the bank when
retired in May 2013. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any
other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold
any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years,
nor does he hold any other major appointments and professional
qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (EZ E %4 ) (‘Mr. Wong"), aged 70, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018, and was
re- elected on 30 July 2018 and 2 August 2021, respectively. Mr. Wong
graduated from Columbia Radio Institute (27 #k Lt a8 48 B T 12 2 1K)
majoring in radio engineering in 1978. Mr. Wong has been working for
Mitsubishi Electric Hong Kong Group Ltd (= ZFHB&#A R A A)) ( formerly
known as Ryoden Electric Engineering Co, Ltd (EE T2 B R A
1970 to 2010. He has been responsible for the aforesaid company’s China
business since 1983. He was the key responsible person for its subsidiary

) from

established in China, his last position was a supervisor of the executive
department and was mainly responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong
is currently a director of Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co., Ltd.* (857 (¥8B) T
¥ AMR/AF]) and an executive director ofShenzhen Sanli Mechanical and
AYNT=FEEREBELIER
&]), both are agents for e\ectrlcal products of Changzhou Sanli
(B INTH = FIE B R]). Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Wong does not hold any other position in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last three years, nor does he hold any other major

Electrical Equipment Engineering Co., Ltd.*
R =

Electrics Company*

appointments and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Wong is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wong does
not have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
ESWES

The directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company’) submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting
Period").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused to strengthen its business
development in the areas of trading of high-tech software and hardware
equipment; developing and establishing payment platforms to provide
mobile payment services and value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to, among others, introduce and
procure mobile application services. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Reporting Period.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group's
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out
on pages 7 to 19 of this annual report. Such discussion forms part of this
Directors' report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 98.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 87. Such summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 31 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 101 and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and to
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the board (the “Board”) of Directors and management are aware,
the Group has complied with all related laws and regulations in all material
aspects which may have significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the shareholders
of the Company under which the executive Directors may, at their
discretion, grant options to themselves and any employees of the Group
entitling them to subscribe for shares representing up to a maximum of 10
per cent of the shares in the Company in issue as at the date of approval of
the aforesaid share option scheme. The purpose of such share option
scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to participants as
incentives and rewards for their contribution to the Company or its
subsidiaries.

No options were granted under such share option scheme since its
adoption by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised at
any time during the Reporting Period.

The aforesaid share option scheme remained in force for a period of 10
years commencing on 1 August 2011, being the date on which it was
adopted by the shareholders of the Company, and expired on 31 July 2021.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Mr. Cai Dan (resigned on 31 May 2023)
Ms. Ho Ching

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

Pursuant to Articles 84 (1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony and Mr. Wong Kin Kee shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY'’S SUBSIDIARIES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. The other director of
the Company’s subsidiaries during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this report was Mr. Li Kwan Shing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2022; (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2023; and (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term
of three years commencing from 3 April 2021, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2023, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Ms. Ho Ching presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms. Ho Ching will be
determined with reference to her qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Cai Dan resigned as executive Director on 31 May 2023 due to his wish
to devote more time on his other personal endeavours. Mr. Cai Dan did not
have a fixed term of service with the Company but was subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.
The remuneration of Mr. Cai Dan was determined with reference to his
qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group and
prevailing market conditions.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 75 to 78.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company (the ‘Remuneration Committee”) with reference to their
relevant qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities in the Group
and prevailing market conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted revised specific terms of reference on (i)
4 December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules; and (i) 15 December 2022 to
be in line with, among other matters, Rule 23.07A of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprises
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the
current chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or a connected entity of the Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any
time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, at no time during the
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaogi was interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue; (i) Mr. Ho Yeung was
interested in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue; and (iii) Mr. Cai Dan, who resigned on 31 May 2023, was
interested in 682,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 0.05% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue. Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors or
their respective associates and the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of
dealing by directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as the Directors were aware of and having
made due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
and/or were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other members of the Group:
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Happy On Holdings Limited (‘Happy On”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%

Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On ) (#fi1)  EXBEA

Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%
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Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in those 987,888,771 shares held by
Happy On.

2. “L" means long position in the shares.

3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there was no other persons
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had any
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the largest and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 85% and 100% of the Group's total
purchases, respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 78% and 92% of the Group's
total sales, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group'’s
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
of its associated company (made by the Company).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 20 to 40 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, the financial statements of
the Company had been audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited (formerly known as UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited) ("Prism”)
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution to re-appoint Prism as the auditors of the Company
will be proposed to the shareholders of the Company for approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 13 June 2023
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A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below:

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
For the year ended 31 March 2023

MBRE

BE_Z-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

ASREBE T AR 2 B AR REE -
8 E R R 4 (B8 0 S ERBHBR) 25
BT :

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EB-=F —T-o—F —TB-—F —T-FTF —T-h#F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FHET FHET FHET
(restated)
(#E:51)
RESULTS E4
Revenue Wz 18,290 32,800 41,242 26,556 12,256
(Loss)/profit before taxation KA1 Al (E548), V& A (16,840) (21,920) 6,345 (33,225) (34,232)
Income tax credit/(expense) SR %, (FIsZ) - 5 15 606 (229)
(Loss)/profit for the year FERNEE), % (16,840) (21,915) 6,360 (32,619) (34,461)
Attributable to: LA AR -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ P =N (10,108) (18,189) 16,703 (26,710) (22,928)
Non-controlling interests IEIE R T (6,732) (3,726) (10,343) (5,909) (11,533)
(16,840) (21,915) 6,360 (32,619) (34,461)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREAEE
Total assets BEE 34,633 58,207 62,017 89,277 112611
Total liabilities FER=RE (48,006) (54,956) (37,125) (98,718) (89,828)
(13,373) 3,251 24,892 (9,441) 22,783
Attributable to: AT ARG -
Owners of the Company VAN/NETEZ 2= DN 246 10,707 28,413 11,892 39,463
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR RE RS (13,619) (7,456) (3,521) (21,333) (16,680)
(13,373) 3,251 24,892 (9,441) 22,783
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QUANTUM THINKING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 98 to 204, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F: +852 2774 2322

www.prism.com.hk

> 88

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2023

HETRAARARZERR
(REISHBIMA A BFRLA])

=z
=

BPCEAETEHERAR(ELF)) REM
BAR(ATHREERE])IIHNFERBE204R
MEEMBHRE  BRR T _=F=A=1—
ARG EMBIRARLRBEZBILFENGEIE
s REMEERER SARZEPIRNEAR
ERER  UANEAMBHRRME  BERIES
TR -

BFIRR  ZFEEAMBHRRCSRET BT
RERMICEAVBERELENEEMAFHR
M7 BESER-_T_=F=ZA=1+—HHOESE
MBRRREBEZA L FENGRAMBRRR
HEEERE YR HEREB(RAGE)WKE
MEZERE -

ERNER

B RET B GRS RANEBET LR
EITERE - RAEZFENTAENELEER
HE [ ZBE B R A M BRI AENEE] &
DHREE—FE - REBEF B ST A HEME
(BxgsmERTRD A BHMABL
R BE&E YEETTATHEMERBEER
T HPEE - RMAERERES BIRENETR
& REMANEREHEER -

Member Firm of ‘w



Independent Auditor’s Report
BN AZBERE S

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared. The Group
experienced a loss of approximately HK$16,840,000 for the year ended 31
March 2023 and had net liabilities of approximately HK$13,373,000 as at
that date. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company, having
considered the measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that
the Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZB R E E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

R ETEE ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNESFNAEERARENSE

Revenue recognition from project-based system development contracts

Refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 112 to 116.

We have identified revenue from project-based system
development contract as a key audit matter as the amount is
significant to the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and there are significant degree of management judgement
exercised by the management of the Group in determining the
total outcome of the system development projects as well as the
percentage of completion of system development and the
amount of contract revenue recognised in profit or loss.

As stated in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition
on contract revenue involves a significant degree of management
estimates and judgment, with estimates being made to assess
the total contract costs and stage of completion of the contracts.

The Group has recognised revenue from project-based system
development contracts of approximately HK$14,418,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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Our audit procedures were designed to assess the recognition of
revenue in profit or loss.

We have discussed with the project managers and the
management of the Group and sample checked the supporting
documents, such as system development contracts and payment
certificates to assess the reasonableness of the management’s
estimation of the budgeted revenue and total budgeted contract
costs.

We have recalculated the percentage of completion based on
accumulated actual cost incurred to date over the total budgeted
contract cost.

We have assessed the reliability of management’s assessment in
total budgeted contract cost by considering the historical actual
costs and estimation of total budgeted contract costs of
completed project.
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The key audit matter
BREESEE

BAEFTEE (R

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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B AZB R E E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BREEEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNESFNAEERARENSE

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies from pages 129 to 136.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
and other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$14,921,000, HKS3,214,000 and HK$246,000 respectively, net of
accumulated loss allowance on trade and other receivables and
contract assets are approximately HK$384,000, HK$986,000 and
HK$6,000 respectively.

We have identified the loss allowance on trade and other
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter because the
amount is significant to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole and there is involvement of a significant degree of
management’s judgements and estimates involved in assessing
the expected credit loss ("ECL") model, based on the historical
credit loss experience and forward-looking information specific to
the debtors and their economic environments.
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Our audit procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss
allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets.

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used,
its development processes and relevant controls adopted by the
management of the Group in the ECL model.

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group on the ECL
model adopted, parameters selected and the internal credit
rating used. We have also examined the key data used in the ECL
model on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
reasonableness.

We have assessed the competency, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer used by management and
discussed with external valuer their scope of work, and assessed
the appropriateness of the valuation methodology.

We have assessed the adequacy of the disclosure of the financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZB R E E

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group'’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN AZBERE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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B AZB R E E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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BN AZBERE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong
13 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e BEm MEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE=ZT=_=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E_=F B F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FHET
Revenue &= 7 18,290 32,800
Cost of sales $HE R AN (16,470) (28,921)
Gross profit EF 1,820 3,879
Other income =R N 8 1,593 2416
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries kNS NGTI gy 28 - 233
Distribution costs Pal =10 (48) (217)
Administrative expenses THHX (18,812) (26,251)
Impairment loss on financial assets SRLEERREREE (427) (878)
Finance costs %EA 9 (966) (1,102)
Loss before taxation RRBLATE 1B (16,840) (21,920)
Income tax credit Frigtife 10 - 5
Loss for the year FREE 11 (16,840) (21,915)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEFEFREE :
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZ SN (10,108) (18,189)
Non-controlling interests FEIE TR (6,732) (3,726)
(16,840) (21,915)
Other comprehensive income Hib2mEUR s
Items that will not be reclassified B8/ EN = o E =Frs
subsequently to profit or loss mE H
Exchange differences arising on translation ~ BAFS$REZ AN S HE
of financial statements from functional BEINEMETELR
currency to presentation currency EH =% 216 247
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKE
for the year 216 247
Total comprehensive expense FREAEMAZHEE
for the year (16,624) (21,668)
Total comprehensive expense UTATEGREREZE
for the year attributable to: XA :
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIE S DN (10,461) (17,719)
Non-controlling interests JEIE AT (6,163) (3,949)
(16,624) (21,668)
Loss per share attributable to the owners ZX A F#HE A B
of the Company BREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #SE (BL) 15 (0.75) (1.34)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR

Asat31 March2023 R-ZE-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T FET FETT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Plant and equipment M= K& 16 345 1,503
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17 1,631 1374
Intangible assets mEAE 18 1 14
Goodwill R 19 - -
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 1,977 2,891
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 &EAMERIA 20 20,105 23,870
Contract assets BHEE 21 246 574
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAERD
profit or loss TREE 22 8,210 22,894
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 23 3,493 7,978
32,054 55,316
Assets classified as held for sale NEAEFLEERE 29 602 -
Total current assets mEBEEAE 32,656 55316
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 MEMERFIE 24 20,760 53,503
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 790 1355
Contract liabilities afaE 25 = -
Financial liabilities at fair value through WAFEF AEEH
profit or loss TRiBE 26 = -
Income tax payable FERTER S HL 16 18
21,566 54,876
Liabilities associated with assets classified HYBATHESE
as held for sale EENEE 29 25,629 -
Total current liabilities wWReEaE 47,195 54,876
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(EE) BEEE (14,539) 440
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAE (12,562) 3,331
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 811 80
Net (liabilities)/assets (AR EEFHE (13,373) 3,251
Equity s
Share capital iz 31 135,625 135,625
Reserves & (135,379) (124,918)
Equity attributable to owners AAREBAELER
of the Company 246 10,707
Non-controlling interests VAR (13,619) (7,456)
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (EAEH), EREE (13,373) 3,251
BFEHERRAT

— =

FEHE
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 204 were approved 598 FE 204 BiF A M BB REEEeN T _=
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 13 June 2023 and are  F/;x A+ = BH#tENMRETZE Y H NI ESER

signed on its behalf by: REE -
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Ching
TR Al fE
Director Director

EF EF




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

== N\ 7
/ X T / ~ II\EIIl\
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—

=P

=EE= /5 =g —[EMEEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEARL
Non-
Share Share  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
BRA RAERE R E RiEE By FERER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT THERT THERT THERT THER THERT
At 1 April 2022 R-B-=-FNA-H 135,625 99,935 (5,147) (219,706) 10,707 (7,456) 3,251
Loss for the year FREE - - - (10,108) (10,108) (6,732) (16,840)
Other comprehensive Htt2E(BEX) A
(expense)/income
Exchange differences arisingon ~ Bi3R&R AL &M
translating of financial BERZIEE
statements from functional EEMER Z58
currency to
presentation currency - - (353) - (353) 569 216
Total comprehensive expense FR2 R ZAE
for the year - - (353) (10,108) (10,461) (6,163) (16,624)
At 31 March 2023 R-E== fF—
R=1+- 135,625 99,935 (5,500) (229,814) 246 (13,619) (13,373)
Attributable to owners of the Company
AARHEB AR
Non-
Share Share Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
BRA Rtn i (E SR ZitBE @it EERER Fas)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 April 2021 R-E--FNA—A 135,625 99,935 (5630) (201,517) 28413 (3,521) 24,892
Loss for the year FERER - - - (18,189) (18,189) (3,726) (21915)
Other comprehensive Hith2EKA/(BX)
income/(expense)
Exchange differences arisingon 81 #3Rk T &Y
translating of financial BERZIEE
statements from functional FEEMER £
currency to
presentation currency - - 470 - 470 (223) 247
Total comprehensive income/ £RZHWRA /(Fx%)
(expense) for the year ko] - - 470 (18,189) (17,719) (3,949 (21,668)
Acquisition of a subsidiary YeiE— B AR
(note 27) (M3E27) = = = = = (460) (460)
Disposal of subsidiary (note 28) (& KB A 7] (Fif7E 28) - = 13 = 13 474 487
At 31 March 2022 R-B==f
=A=t+-H 135,625 99,935 (5,147) (219,706) 10,707 (7,456) 3,251
E?E\ﬁﬁ FRAE]

==y
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIZE—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—=2== —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETER
Loss before taxation bR ARS8 (16,840) (21,920)
Adjustments for: LR B IBFHE
Depreciation of plant and equipment W E M T E 1,023 2,151
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 1,417 2,436
Amortisation of intangible assets ML EERH 13 14
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries R B R R - (233)
Investment income from financial assets REBEAFEFAEBTZRN
at fair value through profit or loss TRLEENRERA (425) (701)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HEmRE kKR (534) -
Interest income from bank deposits IRITFREF B YA (29) (10)
Income from waived of lease repayment HeBEEERNKE (435) (140)
Impairment loss on financial assets, net CRMEENREBETE 427 878
Finance costs B% &M 966 1,102
Operating cash flows before movements EEECEHIMNLCERERE
in working capital (14,417) (16,423)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 2 5 I H {th FE U 2R TR 4> (& 0) 1,392 (15,511)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHBERLD,(35N) 286 (340)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 28 5 Fz E & {718 Gt ) /38 i (4,196) 16,888
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERD - (706)
Cash used in operations KEZEEHARIR S (16,935) (16,092)
Income tax refund BIREFTEH = -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEEAMNBESFE (16,935) (16,092)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIZE—ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BARRAFESFAEBEN
through profit or loss S RVE E (17,121) (85,199)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary U 8 — R MY B A RIRIIR & A FEE
(note 27) (FfF5E27) - 6
Net cash outflows from disposal of subsidiaries HENERRAER R FRE
(note 28) (FftsE28) - (12)
Purchase of plant and equipment EEmE kRE (291) (20)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BERAVEFABENSHEE
at fair value through profit or loss K FT1S FUE 30,216 91,991
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  HERE RREEHKIE 573 -
Investment income from financial assets RKEEAFEFABRNECREE
at fair value through profit or loss B E WA 425 701
Interest income from bank deposit IRITIF RHF B UA 29 10
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REZBHAENREFH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 13,831 7477
FINANCING ACTIVITY REEE
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBBENENR (1,115) (2,487)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY METHDANREFR (1,115) (2,487)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRASEEYRDFHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,219) (11,102)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHRERASEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,978 18,847
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEEHNTE (208) 233
Bank balance and cash transferred to assets BERESEARFEHESE
classified as held for sale RRTTAB MRS (58) -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED (ARITHEBRRS)
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 3,493 7,978
Analysis of balances of cash and HEeEREESEEYERDIT
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents RENRESEEYD 3,493 7,978
ETRHEBRAT
—E - CEFRE
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 8 May 2000 and its
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 July 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of the principal place of business of the
Company was situated at Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre,
151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong and has changed to
Room 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong on 1 March 2023.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investing holding company. Its major operating
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of system
development services and other value-added technical consultation
services and trading of hardware products.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") while that
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are Renminbi (‘RMB"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HKS as
its presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BZE—Z-=F=A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following amendments to HKFRSs, issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") where are effective for
the Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2022:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTSTO 2. EAHIIREEITEBHBRE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING A (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not E', ﬁEﬁ‘ﬂE‘ e R R HHTET B BB ET
yet effective B B SR & Al
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments $%iﬁﬁ?m$ﬁ'§ﬁﬁ AT B 28408 M R A 5K
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: HHTE] MBI BB IS mE AR -
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts and related EATBERESELNE 1 RRAHKEBE
October 2020 and February ~ Amendments' ( a%if/%ﬁﬁ%i&%
2022 amendments to EREVHR_E-FF
HKFRS 17) TARZZZZF_f
#IEET)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback? i?,%ﬁﬁ% RE2ER| ERHANPMEEERE:
F16RMIE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between E,%ﬁﬁ&#&%ﬁ_ {l REENEBE LAY
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint F10RREBLFEA REMENESL
Venture? £ 285REE] ENEES
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BEASHERE1RNE] BBEIBEARDN
Non-current and the related e
amendments to Hong Kong RRESHABBG
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of (ZZ-ZF)0K
Financial Statements — Classification WEZFI—EHA
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that HERRZXRER
Contains a Repayment on Demnand R T B E T
Clause? o8’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants? BRI ENE 1 RNETT MEZENEREARE?
Amendments to HKAS Tand  Disclosure of Accounting Policies' Ehe aﬁ;‘iﬁl] 15K SEBREE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BRNBRELNER
BHRE I RMIEE]
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimate' BB ERE 851? B1EE] Q‘Eﬂﬁﬁ'}i%‘
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BRGIENFENFEMET] E-RXFPELER
Liabilities arising from a Single éé&ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ@
Transaction’ EREHIE
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 1 RIE-_=F—A B2 E@MENEESHRE
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 ?\AZ —FE—A— B2 ERANFERA
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 3 ;ir‘ﬁi;‘}&iiiﬁ H HA R 24 89 4 S HARS A 3k
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the NATIERIBE @ ERF] KB BB
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on AR e AR E B EE REBIR
the results and the financial position of the Group. TR E K2 o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the "Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance’).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value
though profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value though profit
or loss that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Going concern assessment

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$16,840,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 and had net liabilities of
approximately HK$13,373,000 as at that date. Notwithstanding the
above results, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of the going concern
basis is dependent upon the success of the Group’s future
operations, its ability to generate adequate cash flows in order to
meet its obligations as and when fall due and its ability to refinance
or restructure its borrowings such that the Group can meet its future
working capital and financing requirements.

3.

EXREHEE

HEMBRRDREF BSOS RME
BRPBREEARE - LI - HAEMER
RBEB R PTGEME 5 LR R R EBED
FoenBEBLAED ([F B2 REE A
HRERBERBEEER -

BREAFEFABSNETEREEREZA
FEFABSENEBBENSRERREZA
FEEI - RAMBRRERBE LKA
ZN e

LA — R BE ARG E m &R AR T
RENRFEERE

RNFETNEMS2EE ZEEFERETH
BEFRXGPHE—BEEMBIEER -1
BEMXNNERE  BRZEBRERERE
FTiS R A R KA B b ERMTEL a4
e BRATEFENFBERTIEFTHE
NRRE o

BEREEEEINOT

FEKE T

BHE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HILFE K&
B 815 518 F 58 4916,840,0008 T * A% BH
B EFEEL 51337300078 7T - #itA £t
E¥E  GAVBRREFBECEENRY
BEQEEREDEBEURRANE B R IRK
INEEET - EXR RSN AR B
BIEEEMNE I EEAREXEHEERN
NN BEREEERERREEESRME

T ,
™ 2=

ETRHERRLAT
— T = FERL

107 <



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre SRR M A

For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

Also, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to finance its future financing requirements and working
capital based on the following considerations:

The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs through various channels including
human resources optimisation and management
remuneration adjustments and containment of capital
expenditures.

The Group will seek to dispose of Guangzhou YBDS IT Co,, Ltd.
(EMEFEEBEBRAR), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, with net liabilities of approximately
HK$24,952,000 as at 31 March 2023.

The Group, through its newly acquired subsidiaries namely,
Beijing Hongchang Yayun Technology Co. Ltd (1t 5 5A & HE#8
B AR A A]) and Shenzhen Xinyoutong Technology Co. Ltd
(R YT Z BB B A R A A) respectively based in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), signed two contracts in
April 2023 to cooperate with two information technology
company in providing such a value-added service as multimedia
short messaging service. The Directors consider that this new
project will be profitable and would contribute towards the
Group's business in other value-added technical consultation
services.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group's returns.

} 108 Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2023

EXREFBEE (B)

RFEREM ()

o RRAREERR ERUATERER
= AREREAERABERTENEESR
TRHEES

AEEBESRDEGRER BBE
BREEFITHREA - BEEIAN
BREAREIEEFH A RZEHER
S e

AEEBSKHERAQRMEEEZEW
BAREMEEEERBIBRAR
ER-_ZE-_=F=-A=+—Hz8aE
SRR 524,952,000 TT °

AEEFEBENWERPEARKM
B (TR B ) B9 F 8 2 Bl s sh E e dR
MEBERAR RN REEN KA
BARNR-ZE_=FMOATIMNOE
- EMREERMARGE " 2H
ZHERERBEERS EFRRD
SIEHIER KRN - XK RANEE
T H At 18 B B 40 B A IR 7% 2 TS
BEf -

mEEXE
A B MR BIEARR T A RARE R EH
BARIERIMN TR BRE

BEAEEGRESIATRIAR - BIBEA S
1
AEHIRE B RITERES

2 B E W RE T AAE RERA
5 [ A R SR SR ¢ Ko

BRNEREHRERERENTZERN
SEEHEHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRMGE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes on input and
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXESFBEE)
(Continued)
Revenue recognition W
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods and AREFEBARZABR AT P EERERE D
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to KR ZeBrMEEESR TP
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods ZEEMERSEHEESHRE - &M
or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step = ANEBRERES R

approach to recognise revenue:

Step1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer - BB BREERPHNEYN

Step2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract - B2 BRANTHEOET

Step3:  Determine the transaction price - B3 BERSE

Step4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance - B4 RENPHNENEESERZS
obligations in the contract B

Step5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a - BEs: EARKEBEARTEENHIE

performance obligation. ST (Sstit) BB U e
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or
a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:
Sales of hardware products;

Revenue from system development and consultancy services;
and

Revenue from maintenance services.

Sales of hardware products

Revenue from sales of hardware products is recognised at a point in
time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers.
Control of the goods is considered transferred to customers at the
time of delivery.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Revenue from system development and consultancy services

Revenue from system development and consultancy services were
recognised over time.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

Qver time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation (Input method)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method. Input methods
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation (for example, resources
consumed, labour hours expended, or costs incurred) relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The Group's efforts or inputs are expended evenly
throughout the performance period, the Group recognise revenue
on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from maintenance services

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts with its
customers. Customers are required to pay in advance and the
relevant payment due dates are specified in each contract. Revenue
is recognised at a point of time based on the maintenance service
period.

Warranties

If a customer has the option to purchase a warranty separately, the
Group accounts for the warranty as a separate performance
obligation and allocates a portion of the transaction price to that
performance obligation.

If a customer does not have the option to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance with
HKAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
unless the warranty provides the customer with a service in addition
to the assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon

specifications (i.e. service-type warranties).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are
recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation.

For service-type warranties, the promised service is a performance
obligation. In that case, the Group allocates a portion of the
transactions price to the warranty.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from maintenance services (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For the contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease, at inception of the contract or modification date.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less). For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate
or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used)

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for
any measurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease modification

Except for Covid-19 — related concessions in which the group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to
its leased properties. Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (ie. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the net
investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint arrangement that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2023

EXREFBEE (B)

EI%%IQ&%$‘¢@&ﬁﬁW%ﬁE
FIT AR B RIS AAM - 1R TE AR A BLIRER
ZIRBMEZAHRUEIREN e EERAE -

SHEEHI B TR A EHRE Gk
AR N REREN SR E -

BEMEHRE TRMNERN A EIREMA
AEBREERE HHE TAAREOREM
RS AR RIR B R AR EETTAHE -

BARE TS
ERATIERATER - QR ARAKEE
AR

@ BAL/—BRALTHZATHREMND
#oHZATL

) ESEHEEEAER
(i) BAKEBERTES =

(i) AREBXAEBEFRREEE

BAEBMKE @ 3K
b) EATEE AT AR R
B
() ZEREAEEAR—SBEAK
I=/NS
(ii) %E%ﬁﬁ HERE(HS—
HERNETRF - WEAFHE
?W%AT)W%%AEQ%E
NS
(il ZERHEAEEAR-F=FH
HERTA
vy —REBRAF=-FTEEMNSED
B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

=R bR e

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #EZE-—T-_=F=A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over

the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilised the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method for the
plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimate useful lives. The
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash, as defined
above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGU, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss was recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

() Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest

income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of
the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the "Other income” line item (note 8).

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at

amortised cost is measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of

each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised

in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in

note 6.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at amortised
cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
operations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit

risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the

following criteria are generally not recoverable:
when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information

indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by
default date determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors,
and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Maodification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows
are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset, after reducing
gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
assets will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted
to the carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, 2)
held-for-trading, or 3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)
the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance

with the Group'’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or
losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profits or losses
to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per
cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly, such
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At the end of the
subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation (if appropriate) recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except net realisable value of inventories
and value-in-use of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions’).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant is recognised as
an expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted
vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options granted to employees (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

System development contracts revenue recognition

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the accumulated actual of
contract costs incurred for work performed to date over the
estimated total contract costs. Notwithstanding that the
management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and costs for the system development contract as the
contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms of
its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates
and this will affect the revenue and profit recognised.

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end of each
reporting period. Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value-
in-use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$345,000 and
HK$1,631,000 respectively (2022: HK$1,503,000 and HK$1,374,000
respectively). Based on the estimated recoverable amounts, no
impairment loss in respect of plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment with finite
useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The
residual values reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the
Group would currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 March 2023 are HK$345,000 (2022: HK$1,503,000).

Allowance recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$14,921,000 (2022: HK$18,686,000), HK$3,214,000 (2022:
HK$2,582,000) and HK$246,000 (2022: HK$574,000) respectively, net
of accumulated loss allowance of approximately HK$384,000) (2022:
HK$383,000), HK$986,000 (2022: HK$813,000) and HK$6,000 (2022:
HK$6,000) accumulated loss allowance respectively.

Impairment loss on trade receivables, other receivables and contract
assets approximately HK$29,000 (2022: HK$376,000), HK$398,000
(2022: HK$496,000) and HKSNil (2022: HK$6,000) respectively has
been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of financial liabilities

As described in note 6, the directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
Financial liabilities are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis
based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market price or rates. The estimation of fair value of financial liabilities
include some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The carrying amount of the financial liabilities as at 31
March 2023 is HKS nil (2022: HKS nil). Details of the assumptions used
are disclosed in note 6. The directors of the Company believe that
the chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of financial liabilities.

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 30, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$200,156,000 (2022: HK$175,375,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams as at 31 March 2023. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary difference will be available in the future.
In case where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year in which such a
reversal take place.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. BEXEREE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able AEBEBREERUBRAEBLIFEL
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to & RIS E B E L E S B AR A B S E AR
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity B SHmEAt - B F—FEUK  RNEF
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior R BB R RS AR T o
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade and other AEBEMERGEEBIENT4MEENES
payables disclosed in note 24 and cash and cash equivalents REMPENTIE [ 23 ENRE S LIR
disclosed in note 23, and equity attributable to the owners of Group, SEEY  URARFHEE AELEZ (R
comprising issued capital and reserves. BEBITRAREHE)
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RARESRTHRAERERERE - (EAEHRK
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the Company —En o NAREEEEEARNKA N EZE
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class ERBEBANRR  TIELESTEARAE
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital RIERERE - BIEBEARARAFEEHES X~
structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the EEEEBFEREL KB NEBEITHRGDFE
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through o HLBK RSB R ZRHE
use of debts, payment of dividends and issuance of new shares.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. TRITH
Categories of financial instruments TRMIANSE
2023 2022
—=E== —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REIEN AT ENSREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BB RESEEY) 22,846 29,246
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFAEGNSRERE 8,210 22,894
31,056 52,140
Financial liabilities cEas
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAHENENSREE 20,760 53,503
Financial liabilities of FVTPL BRAFEFABENSRERE
Designated as at FVTPL (see note 26) EERAFE ABRITE
(RPBf3E26) - -
BEFEEERAT

—E_=EEHEs
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other payables and financial liabilities at FVTPL.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective

notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments included
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. USD are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

6.
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denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as MEEMERE@MEBEWNT -
follows:
Assets
BE
2023 2022
=F== S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FH&T
usD = 61 61

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group currently is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in USD as above. Management of the Group
considers the currency risk of the Group is insignificant for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (see note 23) carried at
prevailing market rates. The Group also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (see note 22). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances is minimal due to short-term
maturities, hence, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge all obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables and bank balance and cash. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an collectively basis
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime
rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating result
of the borrower;

significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

6.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and maintain the Group's credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group's own trading records to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

Category
28

Description

i

SRT A (&)
CHRABEREBBERBEEE)

FERRE ()

A B m G E B R
RBEERREERE  AEEDLH
LEEZB N ELEFAEEEERRT
A DIRIREE R e 12 E E R Bk O
T8 - FEEFRER I RBILTREER

WA RS MEBLZESAERENNE

H s

XL

AT REEERESRERAMIMRAR

FBERRAEENEERFHETR
BEPREMEBEBALTHR - AEERRE
ERERXSHFHIOARMAREEFE
W KT HRED BEEHENR S
HFF e

AEB BN EERBRFFERBIEUATE
Bl -

Basis for recognising ECL

BRAMFEBENESE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default o

rhas 12-month ECL

not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as

Stage 1)
B4

]
aH=

RIEIE I B3 A ERE (526 1

P& ER)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant

TRVEEREQRR KB Nia EREE SRR &

1218 AT H{E B E1E

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are

not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
Al &
ERE(EE2ER)
Default
more events that have a detrimental impact on the

T RVEE RS E R B 1156 R AR I8 HN{E I &

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or

&

E2MEMEEER — BEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred

(refer to as Stage 3)

#)

&

=2
27

2B
2 &

=

E FERMBEENEAEERE(ESS

2354
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic

prospect of recovery
BEMRKAER AR ARENTFERIE
W B FRIA E) 7 BT

ERE MRS HFEHUEELTRIRERERR

- AfAEE

EHMEMEREER —EE

BB
)

Amount is written-off

FRIA R 55

BFRBEERAR
FERE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. LRITHA(E)
Financial risk management objectives and policies cREREREBZERBER (&)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FERR (&)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) REEEGEERLRE (&)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group's financial TRFUNAEECHEENEELEZA IR
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by FERBRIRI D AAEEEHENZ A EER
credit risk rating grades: @A
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E--F
Internal Gross Net Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount  allowance amount
B 128528
iz FEEFR BAHEESS REAE BHERE EEFE FELE BEREE FEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FTHET FAET FET FHET
Trade receivables 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL 15,305 (384) 14,921 19,069 (383) 18,686
Z 5 FE (BIsE) (simplified
approach)
SHEBEERRE
(RE1E%)
Deposits 20 Performing  12-month ECL 2,514 (436) 2,078 - - -
7e B4 1218 A 78
FEEE
Loan receivables 20 Performing  12-month ECL - - - 379 (95) 284
ERELIE B4 1218 A 755
FEEBR
Other receivables 20 Performing  12-month ECL 1,372 (236) 1,136 1,639 (404) 1,235
Hofth R IR % 1218 A 78 5
FEBE
Other receivable 20 Doubtful Lifetime ECL — not 314 (314) - 314 (314) -
Hfth FE WK TE A&k credit impaired
SHEHEERR
—EBEERE
(1,370) (1,196)
Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 it - B SBUGIAN S - AREERAREUHH

Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note
20 includes further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL as
disclosed in note 22 best represent their respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 83% (2022: 56%) and
99% (2022: 99%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest external customer and the top five largest external
customers respectively as at 31 March 2023.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting
period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

6. SRITHE(E)

TREREEBERIECK (8)

RBE SR (E)

At 31 March 2023
RZE-=%=A=+—H

More than More than Total

Within one 1yearbut  2yearsbut  contractual
year or on less than less than undiscounted Carrying
demand 2years 5 years cash flows amount

—£Rg BE—F BBME ANRER
BEX EIRWME ELPREE RERELH REE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TR TR THET
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMENZE 20,760 - - 20,760 20,760
Lease liabilities HEARE 852 829 - 1,681 1,601

At 31 March 2022
RZEZZF=A=1—H

More than More than Total

Within one 1 year but 2 years but contractual
year or on less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

—FRsk HB—F BBEME  AHRER
RER  ELREE  ELRAFE ReRELE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FAET THT THET
Trade and other payables ZoREMENTIE 53,503 - - 53,503 53,503
Lease liabilities HERE 1387 80 - 1467 1435
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurement objective and policies

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that

6. SREITH (&)
AFEFEEERBEK

TREHRHNSBEPRERAFEAENS

are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, BT EADN &t}}*ﬁ%}’é$$@m R IR
grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree NI ErEREEREAE =B ATE
to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s B o
accounting policy.
At 31 March 2023
R-ZB-=%=ZA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—fE EZE =8 BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET FHET FERT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFETAEBREN
SREE
— Wealth management products  — I2 81 & f = 8,210 - 8,210
At 31 March 2022
WZE-__F=RA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—E BB FE=E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THET FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABEN
SREE
— Wealth management products — IBBf 2 T - 22,894 - 22,894
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the NEFNRBTEEE AT EBL 2B miE
current and prior years. B o

';‘ne".n aﬁ-;.vll/)l///jljla’lh
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value

measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis are
set out below:

Fair value as at 31 March

R=A=+-RAMAYE

eI A (&)
DN EFERERBEK (H)

FEERBKEMEERATVEFENER
EERERMBENQTE
RELFUHELEAER SR T AN TFER
PR RS ERIT R A BB T -

Relationship of
key inputs and

Significant significant
Fair value Valuation technique  unobservable unobservable
2023 2022 hierarchy and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
BRBABBEATE
HERER EAFIRE NEATTEE
“E-=fF ZTCCF ATEESR BREAERE BARE BABENEE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER FHT
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATEFAERNEHEE
— Wealth management products 8,210 22894 Level2 Quoted rate of return by~ N/A N/A
issuing bank
—BHEm FoRB BARONDBXRE TER ek
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
BATEF A ERNERAE
— Financial liabilities arising in - - Level3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate of The higher the discount
relation to the provision model based on 2021 was 2.53% rate, the lower the
of the Profit Guarantee discount rate and value (note )
future cash flow
—HREENREEANERAR £ HRERERAK —T--% BB
REeMENAERE  MRER23%  BEGEE)
T ERA
Note: BT

If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10 basis point higher/lower
while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee
would decrease/increase by nil (2022: nil).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial

liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee
on recurring basis:

eI A (&)
DNPEFERERBE (F)

FEBRBEECEMEEZAVEIRNER
EERERMBENDFEE)

REFERENREEEN EREELLESR
BEE=BAVEFENHE:

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF-=

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F#&xT FHET

At 31 March R=A=+—H

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
the other non-current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

Revenue represents revenue arising from system development
service, consultancy service, maintenance and other services and
sales of hardware products. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for
the year is as follows:

ARBEERR  HREEMBEHRERTRA
ERFERIZERAATIRNRDEREE
ISR E AR REREAEREQF
(ERIEES

ARREERR  REEMBREATERAE
BRF ORI B AA RN EMIERE B
BEMNEEEEREAFERS -

Wk 2 73 RRE
Wak iRk B RIFIERYS - AR -
REM IR KB ERE AR NS - AEE
RN -

2023 2022
—_E_= —EF-
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FHEIT
Revenue from contracts with customers BREAMEWEEINE 155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEAWRE R AR
Disaggregated by major products REZEMSF
— Services — R
System development . ES okt 14,418 15,118
Consultancy . Ha¥ 994 2,676
— Sales of hardware — SHEMREG 2,878 15,006
18,290 32,800

BFEHEHRAT
kel [y B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=R R e

For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RERDEER ()
(Continued)
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from TXHINAEEBRE BT BRELERE 15
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15: SHMEANRKEREPANNRWERNDIF
Sales of
Services hardware Total
R 7% HEE N wast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended BE-_ZT_-_=F§
31 March 2023 ZA=+-HLEE THET FHET THET
Timing of revenue recognition  FEE2 Uk 25 Y B RS
Ata point in time PR Zh - 2,878 2,878
Over time e B ] 15,412 - 15,412
15,412 2,878 18,290
Sales of
Services hardware Total
AR %% HERE M 5T
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
For the year ended i
31 March 2022 “A=T—HItFE FAET FAT FAT
Timing of revenue recognition UK 35 A IF RS
At a point in time ME—EREE - 15,006 15,006
Over time e B 17,794 - 17,794
17,794 15,006 32,800

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of transaction price
allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially unsatisfied) is HKSnil (2022: HK$146,000). The amount
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
software development contracts. The Group will recognise this
revenue as the service is completed, which is expected to occur
within one to five years.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkoHER (&)
(Continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining TEHRERTENEEINRZER
performance obligations (Continued) (#&)
Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the ME RSN GO ERBEMAARRES
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of (BIEEBERERETE) SIRER - £ AT
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses REREOER - REBAREENA 2H D
on types of services provided. No operating segments identified by MR EEEF ZLERREBRINEED
the CODM has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable B o
segments of the Group.
Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows: TER  AEEBE/AI2®WRHIWOT :
—  System development, consultancy, maintenance and other —  RERE - - eEREMRE (R
services (“Services”); and %R
—  Sales of hardware products. —  HEEMUES -
Segment revenues and results DU R R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by UTAZTE2RDBREES B DHASE
reportable and operating segment. B e MEEDT -
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ZE_=F=A=1+—HLEFE
Sales of
Services hardware Total
PR 7% SHEBH At
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET FHET TET
Segment revenue 7 EBU 15,412 2,878 18,290
Segment loss o EBEE (3,817) (3,200) (7,017)
Unallocated income R BN 1,113
Unallocated corporate expenses KRB EMS (9,578)
Unallocated finance costs RO TEE R (960)
Impairment loss on other receivables H th & I F I8 @ (B &5 18 (398)
Loss before taxation bR 7 B B 18 (16,840)
BEFEEERAT
“e-cagss 159 4
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RaEkoBER(F)
(Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DR R FEE (])
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEe_ZT-_—F#=-A=+—HIFE
Sales of
Services hardware Total
A7 SHEMR M wBEr

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT FHT
Segment revenue 7 EUES 17,794 15,006 32,800
Segment loss 7 RbEsIE (5,967) (2,156) (8123)
Unallocated income KB A 1,447
Unallocated corporate expenses AOECERS (13,701)
Unallocated finance costs RO E R (1,047)
Impairment loss on other receivables - th i I % 38 () B &5 18 (496)
Loss before taxation TR E 1R (21,920)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as e D NPT ER A A & R BUR BRI S 3 PR
the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment loss EEMSTIEAR - DEEBIEETES
represents the loss of each segment without allocation of central FeAR RATBUKA - EEHB - HE U A R EF
administration costs, directors’ emoluments, other income and BERNBER T SO FEARNER - 1)
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the directors of the RAIARARIEEERAETERSEENRIRFT
Company with respect to the resource allocation and performance EREtE 0% -
assessment.

WA L4 idld o 2
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7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BaEkoBER(F)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities PEEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by AR B e] 2o b &2 28l n AR e
reportable and operating segment: BEERBEBENDIT :
Segment assets DEPEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EC4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Services AR 7 14,112 13,562
Sales of hardware SHEREM 2,101 10,138
Total segment assets DEPEEMRTE 16,213 23,700
Assets classified as held for sale DEARFELENEE 602 -
Corporate and other assets EREMEE 17,818 34,507
Total assets BEE 34,633 58,207
Segment liabilities PEEE
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Services AR 7% 13,631 11,621
Sales of hardware SHER M 610 8,468
Total segment liabilities PEEEREE 14,241 20,089
Liabilities associated with assets classified HEABAFIELENEE
as held for sale HENEaE 25,629 -
Corporate and other liabilities TEREMEE 8,136 34,867
Total liabilities waE 48,006 54,956
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RERDEER ()
(Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating MERSILRI[|E DD LBHEERMES -

resources between segments:

—  All assets are allocated to operating segment, other than — BEEEE AHWLE - BHNIHIE
intangible assets, unallocated deposits, prepayments and NEMEIWGIE - BAFEFAER
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or MERMEE  BRITEHEREURE
loss, bank balances and cash and other corporate assets. MEEZEEIN FIBEEELHIRREK
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on Loale Al EmoMARERNEE
the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable VAME B AT 2 3R 20 AT B e WS 1E A
segments; and DERIER &

— Al liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than — BARSREMENRBLIESER -
unallocated other payables and accruals, income tax payable FERFEREREMDERREN I
and other corporate liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable BEHOIEE2KLLDE - ] 23D E
segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to HEFEENG GRS EE THE A
segment liabilities. g o

Other segment information Hih 5 WBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HLEE

Sales
Services of hardware Unallocated Total
PR SHEREM R EL “st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT THERT THERT THET
Amounts include in the measure HE S EREE
of segment loss or segment D WBEERTA
assets: HIRIA -

Addition to non-current assets (Note) A& IERENE E (M3T) 370 88 1,560 2,018

Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,125 267 1,061 2,453

Impairment loss on trade B 5 W GRIEH

receivables VERIEY St 29 - = 29

Impairment loss on other H A fEGRIE R

receivables BEEE = = 398 398
Amounts regularly provided to EHimEELEAEKE

the chief operating decision REEFEH B

maker but not included in the o) BB A E RS I

measure of segment profit T ARFUE

or loss or segment assets:

Interest income F 2 WA - - (29) (29)
Finance costs B E A 6 2 958 966
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERSEER ()
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) HibpIHER (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-Z-_—_F=ZHA=t+—HLFE
Sale
Services of hardware Unallocated Total
BR 75 HERH ROBC “BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Amounts include in the measure SEH T, (EE)
of segment loss or segment H D EEERETA
assets: HRIA
Addition to non-current assets (Note) REIEREEE () 17 - 3 20
Depreciation and amortisation E R 3,396 518 687 4601
Impairment loss on trade B 5 N GRIER
receivables EEE 218 158 - 376
Impairment loss on other Hib e ETER
receivables BIEEE - - 496 496
Impairment loss on contract assets BHBERREEE 6 - - 6
Amounts regularly provided to TFHMFELERERE
the chief operating decision REEFTEDIEE
maker but not included in the 2 B A E R L
measure of segment profit FTARIFUE
or loss or segment assets:
Interest income FEWA - - (10) (10)
Finance costs B & A 53 2 1,047 1,102
Income tax credit FriSHiE R - - ) ©)

Note:
2022.

Geographical information

Non-current assets excluded goodwill for the years ended 31 March 2023 and

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group's

operations are mainly located in the PRC.

Substantially all of the Group's operation are in the PRC, no
geographical information is presented.

PPV INI IR I I I I 4
T : s

L Sl ot o b

B ERBEAETRERS -
HEER
HE_Z-_=FK-T-_-_F=-A=+—H
IEFE  AEBMNEEEEMNFE -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WaERkoEHER (&)
(Continued)
Information about major customers FRXTEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing KERHBEFEAREBRBIERE B 10% A
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: FRRPWZENT
2023 2022
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FHIT
Company A NGV 14,298 11,286
Company B? NGILEE N/A REF 3 8,599
Company C° naEc N/A FEA3 6,227
! Revenue from services segment. ! a2k B AR # 9 &D
2 Revenue from sales of hardware segment. 2 W R B HEB D -
3 Revenue from relevant customers was less than 10% of the Group's total : REEBREFPHNE DN AEEREFE =S
revenue for the respective year. FEHY 10% ©
OTHER INCOME 8. HfhlA
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHET
Interest income from bank deposits IRITIF A F B UA 29 10
Investment income from financial EER A FEFABREN
assets designated as at FVTPL SREEMNRERA 425 701
Income from waived of lease repayment NeHEEHRRA 435 140
Government grants (note) BB (Bf5E) 120 969
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment T EME M RERZE 534 -
Others HAth 50 596
1,593 2416
ote: GER

Government grants mainly included subsidy under the Employment Support Scheme.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group successfully applied for funding
support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up
by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, included in the government grants are
recognised government grant of approximately HK$969,000 related to the government
grants from the PRC local government authorities in respect of subsidising the Group's
scientific and technological and operating activities, which were immediately recognised
as other income for the year as the Group fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 E*Z:n:_'—%?:_ﬁ

9.

10.

5= + Etﬁf

FINANCE COSTS 9. HKEH
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Interest on late settlement of litigation claims ~ FEiE 45 E R FAE F AT & 922 976
Interests on lease liabilities HEAENFE 44 126
966 1,102
INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FRIBHER
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
HK$'000 HKS'000
FER FAT
Over provision in prior years: BEFERERE
PRC Enterprises Income Tax ("EIT”) PRI TS
([EmBEHR1) = 5

Notes:

(a) No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022 as the Company did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong

Kong Profits Tax.

(b) Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years.

B -

(a) HE-T- =GR -_T-_—_F=-A=+—HLHF
EWETREBMEHEE  RERRA AL E

ERIEMME BTG

ST ERBOEH o

() REHECEMEBE(REREBE]) k%

Fi8 BB M6 AI -
REBIE R 25% °

RZMEFE  HEMEA
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BZE T -=F=A=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 10. FEBLIE R (&)
The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the loss before TSRS BasABRm N MmN ERRAT
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HHGRTIREBEENT ¢

comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F TECF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before taxation T RS 18 (16,840) (21,920)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5%  IEZNH Fr{S R 5 & 16.5%
(2022:16.5%) —T - F 1 165%)
ST BT IR (2,779) (3617)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR A T R 2
for tax purposes 161 34
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTU AR5 52
tax purposes (195) (457)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHEBEEENRGSZE 7,003 5,449
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEEREEHHE R
operating in other jurisdictions TRMEH 2 (4,190) (1,409)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBERE - (5)
Income tax credit for the year FRAEHER = ()

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 30. BREEERIBERESE M0 -




11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after (crediting) charging:

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BZE—Z-=F=A=+—HIFE

1. FREE

AEERRR AT B IRZ GEA) R T 558

BER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments B % X T BITH A B #El
(note 12) (BtEE12) 2,804 3212
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ {E B @F|f X (B FE=EE N
and chief executive's remuneration (note 12)) = Z1TH A B B (FI5E12))
— Wages and salaries —TIERFS 3,843 5,529
— Pension scheme contributions — RIRFT B 528 717
Total staff costs BT A42%8 7,175 9,458
Auditor's remuneration 1% E AN B & 510 550
Depreciation of plant and equipment W= MR T E 1,023 2,151
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 1,417 2,436
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 13 14
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 SR IERREEBE 29 376
Impairment loss on other receivables H G RE SR 398 496
Impairment loss on contract assets BHEERRERIE - 6
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HEBE kB (534) -
Amount of inventories recognised as RERINEESE
an expense 2,687 14,210
Lease rentals for office premises (note i) MAEWERERS (T 10 22
Net exchange loss & R EERE 23 7
Note: Py
[0} The amounts represent lease rentals relating to short-term leases under HKFRS 0] ZEBIEEBUBRELES 1655 T AR H
16. HENHEES -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation (Cap. 622G of the Laws of Hong Kong), is as follows:

12. EERFETHASHMH

RIBEBABARZFIBRARGEIMES L
R BB DENERIFE383(N)@) * (b) ~ @R
AREBEOFE22GERT (HEE SN
BR)BOE A BEFRNEEREET
BABHENT :

2023 2022
=F—= —FEIF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FH&T
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect ofa ~ Fi{EABEE (TN D A K&
person’s services as a director, whether of the  EFff B A 7)) I2 4L A R
Company and its subsidiaries undertaking B A5 2 U A i B
Fees we 420 420
Emoluments paid or receivable inrespectof ~ FAERIREEEEREARARNE X
director’s other services in connection with EM BB A R E 15 H) H A AR TS
the management of the affairs of the =AY GoER
Company and its subsidiaries undertaking
Other emoluments: HALETEN
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREER 2,362 2,746
Pension scheme contributions RIRET MK 22 46
2,384 2,792
2,804 3,212
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERFTETHRAEHM(E)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Details of directors’ and chief executive's emoluments are as follows: BEERTBITHRABHFIOFBOT
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in MZATEHREERANTSENBARTNE
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or BAERBENIG N NRERSm I NZALT
its subsidiary undertaking: B % BN 2k 5% A = ] BE Rz 5 AR 7% T U ER AY

i -
Employer’s

Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement

and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
e EBER EBERRARER
He Hn A FHEIfR st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT THET
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-S-=#
ZA=t+-HLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr.Ho Yeung (note i) S ) - 600 - 600
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (note i) FER LA (i) - 607 22 629
Mr. Cai Dan (note i) 54 (M) - 522 - 522
Ms. Ho Ching (note ) A2+ (B5E) - 633 - 633
Independent non-executive directors B IEEHITEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki nEaEsE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony HFEFEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mERLL 120 - - 120
Total st 420 2,362 22 2,804

BFRBEERAR
Sz crgas 169 4
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12.

» 110

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

12. EERFETHRASEHM ()

RZATHEREREARBLEMBARNSE
BABENER T REOREM I NZAL
B 7 B Bk % A 1 AJ B AR S AR A 1 W ER Y
N -

Employer's
Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
e 2Rk EXmRIKEF
e H a7 STEIE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THET TAT FAET
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZE-_E-_—F
ZA=t-HLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Yeung (note i) T D) - 650 - 650
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (note i) FEREE (M) - 690 46 736
Mr. Cai Dan (note i) B A (B - 1,005 - 1,005
Ms. Ho Ching (note i) falfiE e (P& D) - 401 - 401
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WS EE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony HFEFEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERESLE 120 - - 120
Total st 420 2,746 46 3212
Note GEE

(i) The remuneration includes remuneration paid to them in their capacity as an
employee of the subsidiaries of the Company.

No chief executive was appointed during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

No directors and chief executive of the Company waived or agreed
to waive the emolument paid by the Group during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement for joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the years end 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BZE—Z-=F=A=+—HIFE

13.

14.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. BEHM
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2022: TEZEesHALTH  OZ(ZE—— =
three) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set Z)VERANBES  BENEHINE N TE
out in note 12. The emoluments of the remaining one (2022: two) N-BIN—Z(ZEZ—_F: MB)ESHA
highest paid individuals were as follows: THEFBNT
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ~ #& « T#& « 28 N EMEF 715 1,152
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  iRAREFEH &I 7K 18 5
733 1,203
Their emoluments were within the following bands: FEHMES N T AT EE
Number of individuals
AE
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ 1,000,000 87T 1 2
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid BT =GR T _F=A=+—H
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as LHFEE  AEEYERARZR=H A TN
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March RN 1E & DA RS B A L2 E) o VE A BER
2023 and 2022. fHIE o
DIVIDENDS 14. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 March E T =R T _F=ZA=+—H
2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end IFFEBMERMIEDRERE - BEHRE

of the reporting period. BRI AR R -




For the yearended 31 March 2023 HE—_ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE

15. BRRE#E
ARTEE AEESRERRBEHEER

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to

the owners of the Company is based on the following: A NEIETE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss B8
Loss for the purpose of basic and RETEGRERNRES
diluted loss per share, representing loss EEEAREE - BIARF
for the year attributable to owners HEABGEFAEE
of the Company (10,108) (18,189)
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares /&5t E G IR EA | #58
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss EBRERANEER
per share (000 shares) I B (FR%) 1,356,250 1,356,250
The dilutive loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share as there AR R =F N B _F=A=+—H

were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

EE - AR T EBRITHEINECHETER
B EkEEERASNERELRER -
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. BEKRRHE

Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor Office
improvements machinery fixtures vehicle equipment Total
HENEEE BERKE GRRETEEE AE BARE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TBT TET
CosT B
At 1 April 2021 —E--%pmA—-AH 8,888 2,061 1,008 783 255 12,995
Additions NE 17 - - - 3 20
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y EE—FEIHIB AR
(note 27) (WizE27) - 8 - - - 8
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—TEHBAR
(note 28) (Mi7x28) - ® - - - ®
Exchange alignment [ 5 % 368 44 38 32 - 482
At 31 March 2022 and RZEZZF
1 April 2022 ZA=+-8k
—Z-_4WA-A 9,273 2,105 1,046 815 258 13,497
Additions RE - 8 - 304 3 315
Disposal e - (422) - (756) = (1,178)
Exchange alignment R (688) (81) (72) (82) - (923)
At 31 March 2023 RZBE-=F=f—H 8,585 1,610 974 281 261 1,711
DEPRECIATION AND HERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2021 —E--%pmA-H 6413 1,739 835 254 230 9471
Charge for the year FAZH 1690 204 91 156 10 2151
Acquisition of a subsidiary Yt EE—FEIHIB AR
(note 27) (WizE27) - 5 - - - 5
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—TEHBAR
(note 28) (Mi7E28) - ® - - - ®
Exchange alignment i 5 3% 295 35 32 13 - 375
At 31 March 2022 and RZEZZF
1 April 2022 “A=+—-8k
“Z-_%WA-A 8,398 1,975 958 423 240 11,994
Charge for the year FRTH 813 69 59 70 12 1,023
Disposal e - (405) - (453) = (858)
Exchange alignment R (626) (71) (65) (31) - (793)
At 31 March 2023 R-Z-=F
—B=+—H 8,585 1,568 952 9 252 11,366
CARRYING VALUES HREE
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=F
=A=1+-H - 42 22 272 9 345
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—F
“A=1+-H 875 130 88 392 18 1503
BEFEEERAT

— =

FEHE
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BZE T -=F=A=+—HIFE

16.

17.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
Plant and machinery 20% to 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25%

Motor vehicle 20%

Office equipment 20%

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(i) Right-of-use assets

16.

17.

BB K k1 ()
BB B SO AE (3T 8 PR A T4
# BT

HEmEEE RHEER
5 K23 20% %= 50%
BERREFEEE 20% 2 25%
AE 20%
PN 20%
FHESEREEESE

) ERAEEE

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Buildings BF 1,631 1374

The Group has lease arrangements for office buildings and
premises with the lease terms of generally ranged from 2 to 3
years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$ 1,703,000 (2022:
HK$1,819,000) due to new leases of renting property.

AEEMABTFRYETEHER
B HER-BNTF2E3IF -

BE_ZT-_ZF-A=+—HItFE "
AR EMET Y HAE  BUAE
FERAEEEL1,7030008 T (T ==
£ 11,819,000 7T) °

TP T TP TP IR I NTIDY 4
‘ ST L L LS 4
' L ALALL LS
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

17. EHEEEREERE ()

(Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FETT
Non-current IERED 811 80
Current mE 790 1,355
1,601 1,435
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBEETHRNN KA 2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FETT
Within one year —FNR 790 1,355
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 811 80
1,601 1,435

Less: Amount due for settlement within o R 128 B R EIER

12 months (shown under TR

current liabilities) FIRREEEET) (790) (1,355)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 5 12 {& 3 14 | BB &5 < &9 3808 811 80

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
a lease agreement in respect of renting property and
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,703,000
(2022: HK$1,819,000).

HE-_Z-=F=A=+—HItFE
REERAEME L —HEE R
WHERAEEEL1,7030008 T (=F
— 4 11,819,000/ 7T) ©

Amount recognised in profit or loss (iii) RERTRIANEE

2023 2022
—E-= —ZE=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE 1,417 2436
Interests on lease liabilities HEEENHNE 44 126
Income from waived of lease repayment  EARTHE B AU A (435) (140)
Expense relating to short-term leases BENHAENHRY 10 22
Others (iv) Eftb

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash outflow
for lease amounted to HK$ 1,125,000 (2022: HK$2,509,000).

HE-_E-_=F=A=+—HIEE
FAERIE SR H A% A1,125000%8 7T
ZE % :2509,000/7T) °

BFEHEHRAT
kel v
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 HE—_ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Development Trademark
cost costs Total
B B RS AR A Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
COST ﬁjizp
1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, A—E-—FYH—H -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —E-—_F#ZA=+—8"
T FHEA—AR
—E-=F=A=+—H 61 10 71
AMORTISATION ey
1 April 2021 RZZE-—FMH—H 36 7 43
Charge for the year FARZH 13 1 14
At31March 2022and 1 April 2022 RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H
M—_T-—FMA—H 49 8 57
Charge for the year FARZH 12 1 13
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=F=A=+—H 61 9 70
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 March 2023 WZE-_=F=A=+—H - 1 1
At31 March 2022 RZZEZZF=F=+—H 12 2 14
The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible Lt EEEEARFREE EHER
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated BERBHEGEFNEGEHEREEREL - 5
useful lives as follows: BT :
Development costs 5 years LI #N 54

Trademark costs 10 years FEEEIDWiN 104E




During the year ended 31 March 2022, the goodwill in relation to
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development has been derecognised through

disposal transaction as disclosed in note 28.

*  For identification purpose only

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BE=—T==F=A=+—HIFE
19. GOODWILL 19. &
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
cosT A
At 1 April KM A—AH 4,139 4,139
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (note i) UK E — RIS E A 7] E £ (M) - 449
Disposal of a subsidiary (note i) HE—FERB AR (M) - (449)
4,139 4,139
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RIVBEBR
At 1 April and 31 March REUA—HBE=A=1+—H 4,139 4,139
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -
Note: Bt E
[0} The goodwill in respect of the Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development Co., 0} AN EE 27 PR - AR B REABRERBRA
Ltd* (‘Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development’) 25 & S Rl X # E A A(PEEANERR D ORENEBEBE M
PR 2 &] is acquired through business combination as shown in note 27. G

HEZZ-_—F=-A=-+HILEFE HhER
AR REARNEECRBME 8 HENLE
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20.

» 118

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. €5 RHEMEBWRIE

2023 2022
—E-= =

HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET

Receivables at amortised cost comprise: RS AN ET B B R GRIA BT
Trade receivables E 5 NGB 15,305 19,069
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables S B 5 eI S R R (384) (383)
14,921 18,686
Deposits Be 3,732 1,063
Prepayments TETRIE 752 2,602
Loan receivables (note i) Bk B aA (D = 379
Other receivables (note ii) H b pE U A (B EE ) 1,686 1,953
21,091 24,683

Less: loss allowance for deposits, loan and other & : &% » & 5 F H i fE Y FR 1B Y
receivables (notes i and ii) BEriE A (M1 i) (986) (813)
20,105 23,870

As at 31 March 2023, the gross amount of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$ 15,305,000 (2022: HK$19,069,000).

There was approximately impairment loss on trade receivables of
HK$29,000 (2022: HK$376,000) recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 120 days
to its customers, although an extension of the credit period is not
uncommon for customers who have a long term relationship with
the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of this and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of
each reporting period.

20. €5 RHEMBYWRE &)

UTBREREHRRIBROWSER BB
MEZRHEINNE SRR (KR E
7 RN IR B 18 B ) RO BR iR D AT

2023 2022
—E-= —_=E_—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FH&T

Within 90 days 0HA 8,457 1,972
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 9 4,451
181 to 365 days 181 HZ= 365 H 6,344 12,257
Over 365 days B8 365 H 111 6
14,921 18,686

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade
receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

AEBZBEN 2 MEREEBEN SR
ERZRYGANEERE - B ZRKF0R
MEREEBRERBGBREL2EEHA
M) B A3 R LR B TS A H) B AT AR 2
FmEL At YREBANBERE &
AR ERETENBEREERB LR ERNH
&= BB E ATE R LS TE R B AR R EETT

A BB R AR R I R TR R
FH#2RBETRNEER - Btk
AEBTREFE— 5 EHR BB E DM
RAEH RS o

BFRBEERAR
St cemaz M9 4
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based on
the aging of customers collectively that are not individually
significant as follows:

20. €5 RHEMEBYWRER)

AR EREEE R EARE P R A BR i TR
EZREGRNEMEREEHERWT

As at 31 March 2023 R-BE-_=F=H=+—H

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
¥
RHEER B TH 485 BERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FTHET
Not yet due BRI 1.6% 3,324 54
Past due 1-60 days #HI1-60 A 1.6% 793 13
Past due over 60 days # B R 60 B 2.8% 11,188 317
15,305 384
As at 31 March 2022 R-_ZE_—_§=A=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
ke
TR IR FRE2E ERREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Not yet due m) 7R 2 2R 1.1% 2,021 22
Past due 1-60 days #H7 1-60 B 1.2% 4,531 53
Past due over 60 days AR B 60 A 2.5% 12,517 308
19,069 383
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 BZE—Z-=F=A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out

20. B 5 R HEAEYFEIR (&)
B 3B BRBEZHNT -

below:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
At 1 April RMA—A 383 -
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FARBERERNEIERE
during the year 29 376
Exchange alignment b N R (28) 7
At 31 March R=A=+—H 384 383
Notes: B3E

(i)

As at 31 March 2022, the amount represented loans with the principal amount
of approximately RMB308,000 (equivalent to HK$379,000) made to a former
subsidiary. The loans were repaid on 9 January 2023 and 21 February 2023
respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of loan receivables were
approximately HK$284,000, with accumulated loss allowance of approximately
HK$95,000.

Included in the amount of other receivables as at 31 March 2023, approximately
HKSNIl (2022: HK$25,000) and HK$1,227,000 (2022: HKS$1,533,000) represented
the amount due from Mr. Wang Xiaoqi, the executive director of the Company
and amounts due from former subsidiaries respectively. The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand.

(i)

M-ZTEZZF=A=+—8 " ZZEERAKEB
DA ARS8 A R 308,000 7T (HBE 72 379,000
BIL)MER  ZSERPRNR-_E==F—A
NEBR-_ZE-=F"A-+—HEE-

RZTZZF=ZA=+—0  BEREFEEEY
55284000 7T+ RETEIBREEL) A 950008 7T ©

RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—H8 st AHMEKKE
KeER  WTBT(ZTZZF : 250008 7T)
1,227,000 (= F = =4 : 1,533000/87C) #
RIIEERA R RITE S THRE X ENRIERE
WRTB B A RIFIE - AERIEAEIER - 28R
BIREKER -

Details of other receivables are as follows: o EMGRIEBR AR AT
2023 2022
—E-=48 —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Amount due from former subsidiaries A G NG 1,227 1,533
Advances to a director MEEHR = 25
Advances to staffs METEK 52 236
Other tax payables HAhEEHR 87 64
Consideration receivables EUAR(E 50 50
Others Ei 270 45
1,686 1,953
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. S5 R E#fEUR =1 (48)

Notes: (Continued) Bt - (48)

(ii) The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits, loan and other receivables (ii) AREFIZHAZER NELFEHEEFENSSETS
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The Group recognised 12-month ECL for Be BERMEMEWZFIENEREE A58
loan and other receivables based on the internal credit rating of receivables as %2 USRI /9 A 3B (= B AT AR B B 3R I L i FE UK
follows: BER12EABREEBEQNT

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
FAHEER IR AE EBiERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H
Performing B4 17% 3,886 672
Doubtful ] &t 100% 314 314
4,200 986
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEEAE R R BRTE AR BERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FA&T
As at 31 March 2022 RZTE=Z=F=A=+—H
Performing B4 25% 2,018 499
Doubtful A&t 100% 314 314
2,332 813
The movement in the loss allowance for deposits, loan and other receivables is e BRI REMERZIENEEEENEEH M
set out below: T
2023 2022
—EC=F —E= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
At 1 April RUA—H 813 309
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 4 18 % 7 HE R Y 518 545 398 496
Reallocated to asset held for sales (Note 29) BNOREERFIEHEEE (HH3E29) (221) -
Exchange alignment MK A (4) 8
At 31 March HR=A=+—~H 986 813
There was approximately HK$398,000 (2022:HK$496,000) impairment loss BE-_Z-_=-F=-A=+—HILFE B2
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other (B EFH8 #9398,000 78 7T (& — —4F : 496,000/ JT)
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023. Bt AGAEEBEREMEEKERP -
21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BHNEE
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FH&T
Unbilled revenue of system RIFABE LN RRAERE
development contract 246 574
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

21.

22,

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to receive
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating

21.

BHNEE(H)
EHERETERAEEHC THERFREN
BR WM ENEFN AR - RESHERER
BARAEEREFBKRNARKRR - EF
FARERIA BEIRITE - SNEERBREE
5 FEWFRIA -

FAEERZEANEESIERRBEE R
ARSAEERANEFRLBHAKERE

cycle. EER -
The movement in the loss allowance for contract assets is set out AEHEERBBEREZSHHIWNT :
below:
2023 2022
—E-= - =S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FHEIT
At 1 April REA—H 6 -
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRARIERIER N S EEE
during the year - 5
Exchange alignment ME H, 2 = 1
At 31 March W=A=+—H 6 6

There was approximately HK$6,000 impairment loss recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT ORLOSS

22,

BHE-_ZE-_—_F=A=1+—RHIEE " O
RIMEREL6000EBTE s AGLEER K
Hphrmikzsie o

BAFEFABRENEREE

2023 2022
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T T
Wealth management products by the bank R BERIEI TR E R
in the PRC 8,210 22,894

The wealth management products by the bank in the PRC with
underlying financial instrument mainly consist of the short-term
bonds, money market investment fund and bank deposits of the
PRC.

The wealth management products carried floating interest rate at
1.88%-2.85% (2022: 2.2%-3.28%) per annum as at 31 March 2023.

B ERITAMERE S Bl T AR A IR B A o
IZRREPENEHES  EREMBRER
& RRITIFR -

RZZB-=F=ZRA=+—H BRERKRT
EEFR18EE285E(ZFT = —4F : 22
EZE328E)FHE o

BTRERRAR
—E_=EEHEs
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

23. BANKBALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$2,333,000 (2022: HK$2,478,000) which were
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates which range from 0.25% to 0.35% (2022: 0.3% to 0.35%)
per annum.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. RITERKRBEE

MN-Z-_ZFZA=+—HB  AEBEEIA
AR ERRITA R RIS #2,333,000%
T(ZZE =4 24780007 7T) ° AP B1E
HNE SRR B ST BB B/ TR INEE I ©

RITERE T HBTFERIRF KRB - F
FMENF025EE03BE(ZE-_F:03
[EZE035E) o

24 EZ R HMENKIE

2023 2022

—g== —F_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade payables E S ENFUIR 13,877 19,275
Accruals fE: & A 1,042 737
Other payables (note i) H e A (B aEi) 5,841 33,491
20,760 53,503

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

RTARBERRZERAH2IINESE
FREEARE DA -

2023 2022

—E=-= “E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT T

Within 90 days o0 B A 8,923 3392
91 to 180 days 9THZE180H 1 4,303
181 to 365 days 181 HZE 365 H 4,691 11,297
Over 365 days i 365 H 262 283
13,877 19,275
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

24,

25.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The average credit period granted by its suppliers ranging from 30 to
120 days. The Group has financial risk management in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Note:

i) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2022, approximately
RMB21,812,000 (equivalent to HK$26,920,000) represented the amounts due to
former subsidiaries of which amounted to approximately RMB4,656,000
(equivalent to HK$5,746,000) related to interest payables to a former subsidiary
of the Company, Beijing Huagin World Technology Company Limited ("Beijing
Huagqin’) 3t 5 2 #) X #0 £l 5 45 R 2 &) The amount is unsecured, interest-
free and repayment on demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the amount due to a former subsidiary or

interest payables to a former subsidiary of the Company were transferred to
liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (Note 29).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

24. E5 RHEMENREHE)
BB ER T TS EHRN T30Z1208 -
AEBE BN BRBREE - ARIRFEE
(OB (& B IR PO -

BiRE -

i) RZBZZF=A=+—Ht AEMENIED
SEF - AR 21,812,000 7T (FE 7 26,920,000
PETT) $E FEAT BB B 2 B FRIE A A R ¥ 4,656,000 7T
(HE 75,746,000 7T ) + Z K TE PR T ATME
REGEREFHRMBRER AR ([ REH ) K
FMEAM -  ZeWAEIEKR @B RARTERE

%
BE-S-=FSAST-ALFE  BENH

BRARSELEA B M HEERSE
BRI ENAERBN AR (M) -

25. SHEE

2023 2022
—E—= .

HK$’000 HK$'000

TiEx TAT

Revenue from system development contract R B R F A L H) IS - -

Contract liabilities represents advances received for the system
development contract. The performance obligation would be
satisfied upon the time of the completion of system development.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022 that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year is
HK$690,000 in respect of project-based system development
contracts. There was no revenue recognised in the current year that
related to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

BNAERELASFESOWIBR - EY
RIS ARG TR ERX

HE-_E-_F#=A=t+—BILFEmnZHE
B8R AR %S 22 R A I ES 690,000
TEFAFYIENEE AFETELN L
—FEERNBHEEREREE -

ETRERRAR
-z :EEE%% 185 4
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The financial liabilities represented the provision of the profit
guarantee contained in an investment agreement between
Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen
Quantum’) F Y| T £ F B H 5 B F R 2 7 and the non-
controlling shareholder of Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security
Authentication Co., Ltd (“CITIC Cyber Security"):

» 186

m

In the event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit
and loss) for the year ended 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit"), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology Co, Ltd* (“CITIC Technology’) 7 {Z ¥ i
A Al in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation amount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the year
— actual net profit for the year)

x30% x 10

In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting
non-recurring profit and loss) for the three years ended 31
December 2021 is less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net
profit attributable to the shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security
(after deducting non-recurring profit and loss) for the three
years ended 31 December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000,
there is material default, or serious illegal business has been
undertaken by CITIC Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may
request Shenzhen Quantum to acquire the equity interest in
CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology in accordance
with the terms and conditions of such investment agreement.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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26. ERFEFAEENEHEE

REWZETAE  ERAEBEISRERINE
FRFZAEERAF (DRINEF ) BRI
FEHELZREBRAR ([HEHAR])IFE
P BSCBR i R R FE R A

wWEE-ZZE—-hhF+=—A=+—8"
—E_EF+_A=Z+—HERZE
——F+ZA=+—HLEFEFEH
22 PR B AL (A HBR FEAC B 13
K EB1E) o BIE R A K 800,000 7T
AR & 40,000,000 7T & A B ¥ 85,000,000
T RBHEF]) - RIEFERET
PARAFERIMAR(FERM])
{ELLERE -

FESE=- (FERBLHN-FE
BERRAEF]) x30%x 10

wWEE-—ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H1t
—EFEFERL KRB TR
(EMBRIELE ST REBE)ERA
K #40000000c - BHHE_T = —F
+ZA=t+—HULE=FEFETERAL
IR R FE(G B A F (R IELE T M T
N 518 ) B A R 120,000,000 7T ~ 3
EBREENIFERLHEERER
g R ZORYIEFIRE
BREREHZNGER RGP =
FAlris B 8P E E 2 i o
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 26. RAFEFTAEBEZENEHES

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company's announcement dated 12 October 2018.

Financial liabilities arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum and its subsidiary CITIC Cyber Security (collectively referred
to as “Shenzhen Quantum Group”) is unsecured, interest-free and
not repayable within twelve months. Balance of financial liabilities
arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum Group
was primarily earn-up of approximately HK$1,792,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (HK$11,762,000 as at acquisition date on 4 July
2018). Earn-up will be realised if the CITIC Cyber Security achieve
certain profit targets during the designated period of time. Details of
earn-up measurement are set out as above mentioned.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group measured fair
value of financial liabilities of profit guarantee in investment
arrangement based on the market outlook and their prevailing
business plans and projections. No change in fair value of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021. The fair value of financial liabilities
assessment is calculated based on discounted cash flows of future
payment with the estimated future profit of these acquired
businesses in Shenzhen Quantum and subject to ceiling level up to
net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group.

On 2 March 2022, CITIC Technology requested Shenzhen Quantum
to acquire the equity interest in CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC
Technology in accordance with the terms and conditions of such
investment agreement. No change in fair value of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2022. The fair value of financial liabilities of acquiring
the equity interest in CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology
is calculated based on higher of (i) investment cost of RMB30,000,000
with at fixed return rates at 4.75% per annum (including bonus paid
(after tax)) or (ii) fair value of 30% shares holding in CITIC Cyber
Security.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group
measured fair value of financial liabilities of acquiring the equity
interest in CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology and subject
to ceiling level up to net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group. No
change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss was recognised during both years.

(%)
RABANFBEEMIRAARAWA—F
—N\E+AT=AHRER -

RUWBEBRIETREMNBARSRERLZ (5
BIFYEFEEBDFEEANCSRBERE
BKiF - 2ERBANT-_EARNEE - HE
“E-NFZAZ+—HLEFE  RWER
JEFEBEENCRHEBEEHETIERRT
%91,792000 8 T (RWERAH T —N\F+
APUH &11,762,000787T) © iR 58 %15
ERRFEEBEATERESS RN EZ - Bl
BZEM - BFIFTEMFIBFL0 AT -

HE_Z-—F=—A=1+—HItFE  *K%
EREMISE S MIRITHER 8 R IERIMm
AERERETNRNRENECRABEAT
B-BE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE"
BEAFEFABENESREBENATESLE
BE) - RIBENQFEIRER RS
AR ENEMZELRYIEFHORIBER
FRIEET R AR ACE ) M E R AT, - WHTEER
NEFEENEEFE -

NZZE-—F=ZA=-H  PEEMERZREY
= FIREZIEE B ER GG RIE+H(F
RiiEEmPERLRE 22— -—

ZA=Z+—HIFE  TEZRAFEARB
ENEREENATERS - WHEPEHIT
BANFEETRENTBEERATETR
BUTERSEHFE: 0RERNAARYE
30,000,0007T + B E B E B G F475% (B
FEEATIEAL (BREIR)) 2k (i) 5 48 %2 89 30%
FREHAFE -

HE_Z-_=Z4FR-_ZF-_—_F=ZA=+—H
IFFE  AEBEHEWRBFRERITHEEN
FERTRENCREBENATE  WRT
FIEFEENEEFEARAAR - RNzMm
BFEE  HEEREATESABEZNER
BEAFE-

BFREAEARLR
Sitirpas 187 4
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27.

» 188

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 18 June 2021, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, CITIC Cyber Security entered into a share transfer
agreement (as amended and restated by a supplemental agreement
dated 22 June 2021) with, among others, an independent third party
(the “Vendor"), pursuant to which CITIC Cyber Security agreed to
acquire, and the Vendor agreed to sell, 70% of the equity interest in
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development, at the consideration of
RMB7,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,000).

No acquisition-related costs have been recognised as an expense
during the year ended within the administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised as at the date of acquisition
are as follows:

27. KEE—EHMBEAF

NZEZ—FXATN\H  KARIEEIEE
BENBARTERALH (BT EE) BYE=
HEADI R hEERE(CASHAEZ
T XA BN EETRE
) - it P ERTRERE MEAR
BUARE AR 7,0007T (FHE 49800075 7T)
HE R R ERAABHL Z R 8 70% IR #E -

I 8 L R AR RR OB AN I B AR & Rt S HL
fEE RS RPITRASER B

RUgHE B RN B KA E R EREE
o :

HK$'000

FH&T

Plant and equipment 5 M i 3
Trade and other receivables H 5 R H A WK IE 2,080
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 14

Trade and other payables B 5 R H A IR (2,998)

(901)

HK$'000

FH&T

Consideration transferred EEAE 8

Plus: non-controlling interests (51% in Zhongzhisuxun o0 IEFERRE A (P AR R A

Technology Development) (note) 51%) (MH7E) (460)
Less: net identified liabilities assumed W A EE R B E R 901
Goodwill arising from acquisition WHEFTEAR 2 449

Note:

CITIC Cyber Security held 70% interest in Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development and
hence the Company held a 49% effective interest in Zhongzhisuxun Technology
Development. The board of directors of Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development was
controlled by the Company. Thus, Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development was the
Company's subsidiary.
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27.

28.

PRITIFIIID
B \ p F 7

LL L L Ll

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The non-controlling interests in Zhongzhisuxun Technology
Development recognised at the acquisition date was measured at
their proportionate share of net liabilities acquired and amounted to
approximately HK$460,000.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Zhongzhisuxun
Technology Development

27. WiE—EHE QR ()

RUEE B BiRER P S R R B B I
mUARWEE EFELOMNETE A
460,000 7T ©

g%léqﬂﬁiiﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁélﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁl

HK$'000

FAT

Cash paid on acquisition WENENRS ®)
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired BURENES MRS EEMRE 14
6

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of Zhongzhisuxun Technology
Development

On 28 February 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, who is not connected
with the Group, for the disposal of its entire equity interest in
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development, an indirectly partially
owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash consideration of RMB1
(equivalent to HKS1).

28. HE—EMEBEAF

HEPERANKER

R=Z-—4-A=+/\B  AfE#EAE
EEEENBYE= A ETEERS LS
AR RIS A RO M B 2 Ao B AR
REBRHBRE  BeREAARK T
(AEEMBTT) °

HK$'000
TAT

Consideration: RE :
Other receivables E At EU RIE
o The amount shown as zero is due to rounding less than HK$500

B SO RN5008 T EEEAA TR
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28. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

28. HE—EMEBLF (&)

HKS$'000
FHEIT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control % EZFIENEEREBD T :
was lost:
Goodwill [EES 449
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EAh e WK 2,280
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 12
Trade and other payables B 5 N E M IR (3461)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBETE (720)
HKS$'000
FHIT
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR
Consideration receivable FEN (B =
Net liabilities disposed of BHEAEFE 720
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (474)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve RIEEZWBRFIREN
upon disposal of the subsidiary DERFHAE HE (13)
233
HKS$'000
FHEIT
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESENRESRHFEHE
Cash consideration received EYCRERE =
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHRERNRITEMBLIRS (12)
(12)
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development did not contribute RERARFEREREBEZ2 T =1

significant revenue, profit and cashflows to the Group for the year

ended 31 March 2022.

*
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH 29. BN EARELENEEHBN

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

The Group has entered into a non-legally binding memorandum of
understanding (“MOU") on 31 May 2023 in relation to the potential
disposal of entire share capital of Guangzhou YBDS IT Co., Ltd. (&M
BEiE (= BRI AR A A)) (‘Guangzhou YBDS'), at a consideration
of RMB1 (equivalent to HKS1), to an independent third party. The
following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for sale in
relation to Guangzhou YBDS as at 31 March 2023.

EERERE
AEBR-_Z-_=FAA=+—HIZTA
FEROR NGRS ([ RBHESE])
NEERABENARB I T(HER1ET)
REFABLE=THEENBEEERE
RAR(TREMEE)2HER - R-_T =
FZA=1+—RB UTEERBEEHE
RLEMNBEERELE -

HKS$'000
FET
Assets classified as held for sale PEEBEHENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b WA 544
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNIRE 58
602
Liabilities associated with assets classified asheld HEoEASIEHENEEHBNEARS
for sale
Trade and other payables (note) B 5 R E A R RIE (B 5E) (25,629)

Note:

Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2023, approximately
RMB22,426,000 (equivalent to HK$25,603,000) represented the amount due to an
independent third party, Beijing Huagin. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

GEE

RIT-Z=F=ZA=-+—ANHMGEMZES  HAR
522,426,000 7T (FB & 14 25,603,000/8 7T ) B ENBILF =
FAAFRZEHORIE - R EAEIKE 2 ERAKRER

758 Eh

=k °
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31.

» 192

BTSSR T o

yearended 31 March 2023 #E=—ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

DEFERRED TAXATION

As at 31 March 2023, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$200,156,000 (2022:
HK$175,375,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has tax losses of approximately
HK$44,633,000 (2022: HK$74,900,000) that will be expired within next
five years. The remaining tax losses of approximately HK$155,523,000
(2022: HK$100,475,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.

30. EEFIE

MR-TZ-_ZFZA=+—H  BRNEXTE]D
AERBFRE MY ERFEEBEERLD
200,156,000 70 (=& = =4 : 175,375,000/%5
TC) ERIBELERIBEE -

RZB-Z=ZF=ZA=+—H  AEEHFHE
5 18 #74463300080( = & = = F:
74,900,000 78 7T ) i AR R A FRNEER - 82T
KR IE & 49155, 523000/%75(_$::
100,475,000 7 7T ) A] 48 R HA 45 42

SHARE CAPITAL 31. B&
Number of
shares Share capital
RDEE &
‘000 HK$’000
TR FER
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each BRREBR0I10BTT
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R-_ZT-_—FMA—A -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —T--F=A=t—8H"
“E-_HFPA-HBHR
—E-=F=A=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: E?;’Y?/_&%ZE :
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, RZEZ_—FMA—AH -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —E__F=A=+—8H"
T FHA-BR
—T-=F=A=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
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AR ERRMGE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

32.

33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members
of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

32. BEEARRS

FEEE AS N H M
ERNEATNEERAMIEEERA SN
m

2023 2022

—E-= -~
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHIT
Short-term benefits EHATEH 2,782 3,166
Post-employment benefits RRAEF 22 46
2,804 3,212

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan
for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees. The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$550,000 (2022: HK$763,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the respective accounting period.

33. BARBH G2

AEBRFEFLRHNELES T SNRGI ST
BaEREEREEBRBERTE - 25
EMEERARENEENHITA - LAE
FEANRESFEE - NEEIRERE TEXAH
SRR R AT EMEH MR - 8 A LR A1,500
AT B BM ML RIRAER -

RBFBEZRERORTE - PEMBARA
REBEAFH SN —ELAIRAEREEL
B ERR AR BIHR - BRKER ARG
EEEXNMARKEINEHERE R
%o MEBEBEREENERKGTE  AEEESF
B HFANMNBERE RS RN EN T E

HE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HIFE 8%
AREREMEERBZRNGHOBKRALN S
550,000 7T ( — & — — 4F : 763,000 7T ) 5
REBRE e AREN %S Eln k-

BTRERRAR
—E_=EEHEs
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34.

» 194

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company'’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to written resolution of the Company passed on 1 August
2011 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors
and eligible employees, and has expired on 31 July 2021. Under the
Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant employee
or consultant, advisor, agent, contractor, client or supplier of the
Company or any subsidiary who in the sole opinion of the board of
directors have contributed or are expected to contribute to the
Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company as at the date of passing of the relevant
ordinary resolution. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issue
share capital of the Company for the time being (the “Individual
Limit"). Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any one
year up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of
the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on the date of grant, upon
payment of HK$1.00. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share option to the tenth anniversary of the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of the Company’s share; (ii) the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme and during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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34. LROBEBRNTRRZ

RATURE SRR E S

ARBRBER-_T——F N\ —RBBNE
EARBRRFABRET S ([t =28
EHBEZERAERKRET  BREER
Tt A=1t—RHEM - REFE - K
AAEFGA RS YA AR AKEELE
BREVAN X B AR B B 2 B A & B SRR -
REA I AR BEPHERRGL
BAE - AR A REIRD ©

BB IR RZ AT 8] F 4% 69 B DA T I O A%
DRETBEBBR AT BAZRABEEH
A BN EI10% o BLAAE — & mE A&
ABRHEAI FEEOERERS RHE
IR TEITHRGOEE TERBARAE
RO BT AR 1% ([ERI EBR]) - W T
FEREHRIBUIERTE TR EEAHEA
BAE  BERRETEER T RERTZA
T FT A AR RE T B 81T M8 T ITRRR
(BIEEITE - B REARITEREERE)
RERN—FREEE@EETRB(REZE)
HR B AR BIAR AN EY 0.19% 3k (B {5 #8 38 5,000,000
L BB A NBEERRRMEIE -

RIAF1.008TT1R - B E B AE XA IR
A EIE R - BRI RN B AR A
B+ BFABERITE - TREHARAES
SETE BBTMER: 0ARARMODEE
(VAR AR AR L BB WTHE i)
SRR B Y REE X B RO FHRT

BT BERRBE-S-=4R =%
——#= A=+ AR UREE EAE
A -
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35 MEEBHELEMNBEBEYHIR

TERALAEEREEHELNREZS
BRESNMERGEY METDHELENE

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from

financing activity, including both cash and non-cash change.
Liabilities arising from financing activity is those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

BfE-

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activity.

BERAEMREIAKRAS REHNAEE LS
ERERERTOERREZTDHESREN

Lease liabilities

HESE
HK$’000
TET
(note 17)
(MtzE17)
At 1 April 2022 RZZEZ_FMA—H 1,435
Financing cash flows: RERESNE :
— Repayment — B (1,115)
Non-cash changes: FHSE
— New lease recognized — EERNFHE 1,703
— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — e EETAA (HIFE8) (435)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —EmRNHEEAENE 44
— Exchange realignment — [EH R (31)
At 31 March 2023 R-T-_=F=A=+—H 1,601

Lease liabilities

HEAE

HK$'000

FHET

(note 17)

(Mtz%17)

At 1 April 2021 RZE——FmH—H 2,063
Financing cash flows: BERSRE :

— Repayment — B (2,487)

Non-cash changes: FREEH

— New lease recognised — BHERNFIEE 1,819

— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — REHEEERBA (FFE8) (140)

— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —BEERNEEAGNE 126

— Exchange realignment —[EH AR 54

At 31 March 2022 RZF-_—_#=A=t+—H 1435

BEFEEERAT
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36. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

» 196

36. XA A EMRRRIWER

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T TET FETT
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Plant and equipment TR 5 % 5% 1 17 23
Investments in subsidiaries WEBRRZIEE (@) = -
17 23
Current assets RBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other e ENFOAREME
receivables & e (b) 587 541
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGIE /S (© = -
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 770 3,082
1,357 3,623
Current liabilities FREBEE
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIB R BT E A 602 642
Net current assets RBEEFE 755 2,981
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERAEBEE 772 3,004
Equity s
Share capital i@ 135,625 135,625
Reserves G (d) (134,853) (132,621)
Total equity A 772 3,004
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Ching
TEH Al fiE
Director Director
EE E
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #EZE-—T-_=F=A=+—HIFE

36.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

RATFBIRAROER ()

(Continued)
Notes: B 5
6) As at 31 March 2023, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of HK$26 @) RZZEZ=F=A=+—H0 REBRAFMNIEE
(2022: HK$26), no impairment loss in respect of investments in subsidiaries has TR A4 26870 (ZE = —4F : 2676 70) HIER -
been recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. MR B RN E S RAREEETENEE
:?::i&—%::izﬂi+*5¢¢§m
BamP R
(b) Included in the amounts of other receivables as at 31 March 2023, the gross (b) BREN-_ZE-_=F=A=+—HB0HMEKRE
amount approximately HK$295,000 (2022: HK$295,000) represented the SEF - FEURTINE A R IR R AR ZEA) 295,000 8
amounts due from former subsidiaries with accumulated loss allowance on TL(ZZT =4 2950008 7T) « HiEWKIER
other receivable of approximately HK$295,000 (2022: HK$295,000). The amount AT S BB E 49 295,000 78 7L (= F = = & : 295,000
is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand. BIT) c XS AEKE R REEREER
There was impairment loss approximately HK$46,000 (2022: HK$8,000) BE—_Z-_=F=A=+—HIEE " #é
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other R E A R R B R /)ﬁ@’g‘ﬁ,\m’]
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023. BI(ZZ =% : 800087TT) °
© Amounts due from subsidiaries © FEUR BT /B A RIFRIR
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Amounts due from subsidiaries 98,486 99,095
Less: loss allowance (98,486) (99,095)
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and FEWMIB AT B AEER 2 NEEREE -
repayable on demand.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, reversal of impairment loss of approximately gﬁﬁ —E-=HF=ZA=4+—HItEE - yguymg
HK$609,000 (2022: impairment loss approximately HK$3,775,000) on amounts A FIEREE 1B B @ 496090008 T (Z T ==
due from subsidiaries were recognised in profit or loss. $ CRE BB 43,775,000 7T ) OB PR ©
(d) Movements in reserves (d) =2
Share premium  Accumulated losses Total
BRBHEE E-Sy 3] st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-Z—FWA—H 101,852 (227,566) (125,714)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  F A E51E K HAth
for the year 2EMAX - (6,907) (6,907)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZBZ_F=A=+—HRK
—E-—#FMA—H 101,852 (234,473) (132,621)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  F A& 18 K2 EL A
for the year 2HER - (2,232) (2,232)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=F=A=+—H 101,852 (236,705) (134,853)
BEFEEERAT
—E-=FERE
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. AQATIHB QTS
COMPANY
Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 R =FF—_E-_—F=H=+—HAXK
are as follows: NAMBARKFBEHINET
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of
establishment/ ~ Class of registered equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTR2Y
HREE
HRAL/ Fiske B/
HWEARER R/ &$8% Al EMER KRAEERAEERFARE DL TEER
Direct Indirect
E# %
2023 2022 2023 2022
B —F--F ZECZE O —F-C
China Integrated Telecommunications The British Virgin -~ Ordinary Us$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Group Co. Limited [slands ("BVI')
hER A BREEARAT ABRABE  EE E5 100% 100% - - REER
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited BvI Ordinary Uss1t 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HE00AHEEEERAT BV il B 100% 100% - - REER
Excellent Master Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Financing and administrative
expense for the Group
Excellent Master Investments Limited B L 1T 100% 100% - - REBREBRITRAR
YBDS Multimedia Company Limited BvI Ordinary Uss1t 100% 100% - - Online network systems
development
ERSREARAT ABRAHE LR B 100% 100% - - BLBRZGRE
Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ZEERERAA Bt TR 1A 100% 100% - - REER
Pacific Honour Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BIEERARAR & LE 1T - - 100% 1000 HEBR
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (note ) PRC Contributed RMB40,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
capital development services,
consultation services and
hardware-related business
BEMBBEERRARAR k! HEER ARE - - 100% 100% REZRFERS  BH
GiED) 40000000 7T REURBHEBZE
Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEMBERAA i iE 18T - - 100% 100%  RERR

} 198 Quantum Thinking Limited
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 HE—ZT=_=F=A=1+—HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

37. AAFIME QRS (F)

COMPANY (Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of
establishment/ ~ Class of registered equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BEIR2Y
HREE
ERAL/ R B/
WEARER R/ g% A EMER RRAEERAEERFARA DL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 2
2023 2022 2023 2022
—8-=fF -—Z--fF ZB-=f _—ZT_-%
Shenzhen Yunbo Information System PRC Contributed RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Service Company Limited* (note i) capital
AMEBEEZARBERAR e HEER AR - - 100% 100% AR
iEd) 50000007
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (note ) PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
capital development services and
consultation services
AR EREARAR e HEER ARE - - 100% 100% REZEFERBER
iEd) 2000000070 BHER%
Shenzhen Anxin Certification System PRC Contributed RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd* ("Shenzhen Anxin”) (note i) capital
MITZEREZRARAT i HEER AEE - - 100% 100% HEBR
(TRYIZE ) (k) 50000000 7T
Shenzhen Quantum Technology PRC Contributed RMB10,770,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Information Co, Ltd.* (note i) capital
AITEFHEASARAT ik HEER AEE - - 100% 100% REBR
i) 107700007
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security PRC Contributed RMB14,290,000 - - 70% 70%  Technical development and
Authentication Co, Ltd. capital software development
('CITIC Cyber Securitf note i)
TR EELAZE ik HEER AEE - - 70% % RITRERAARE
((hiz@z) )(Mﬁl) 142900007




vl
For the year ended 31 March 2023 #H =

—m— =

—_ ==

FEH=R-HIEFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

37. AR FIME A RS (F)

COMPANY (Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of
establishment/ ~ Class of registered equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BEIR2Y
HREE
HREYL/  FERS B/
WEARER R/ g% A EMER RRAEERAEERFARA DL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 2
2023 2022 2023 2022
—8-=fF -—Z--fF ZB-=f _—ZT_-%

Internal and External Double Circular PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 70% 70%  Technical development and
Economy Technology (Suzhou) Co, Ltd. * capital software development
(note i)

MINEEREER (BM) ik HEER AR% - - 70% 0% RREREARE
RRAR (WD) 20000000 7T

Befjing Hongchang Yayun Technology PRC Contributed RMB10,000,000 - - 100% N/A Technical development and
Co, Ltd*(noteiand i) capital software development

IREEEBRFEARAR (FEi ki) HEER AR 1000000070 - - 100% MR BWRE RS

Shenzhen Xinyoutong Technology PRC Contributed RMB10,000,000 - - 100% N/A Technical development and
(o, Ltd* (note i and i) capital software development

AITEERRRARLR (Fehi Rii) HE HEER AR 100000007 - - 100% TER  RIETRERIMEE

* For identification purpose only

Note: B3

[0} The nature of all the legal entities established in PRC is limited liability company. [0} RABKSI AT AEEBHNEEAEREED

|l e
(i) The subsidiary was acquired on 4 November 2022. (ii) ZMBATIN-_ZE-_—F+—AmMBUYEs -
(iif) The subsidiary was acquired on 16 February 2023. (iif) ZHMBATIRN T -_=F A+ xBHE -
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. AR FE)ME R B AIFE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding BB B A R AW A FfE F Rl FREITE
at the end of both years or at any time during both years. AR BAEINEEEZ o
Details of subsidiary that have non-controlling interests that are A EANE B M E B E KA FEIEARE I A
material to the Group: B AR -
Proportion of
ownership interest and
Place of voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interest non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERERRENRETERER PEEFEREEN
WEARAR SRR RERLH 5| ZiFRRER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEC-Zf “Z-C “B-=F —T--f ZB-ZfE C—ZT_-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TET
CITIC Cyber Security PRC 30% 30% (912) (2552) (6,352) (6455)
HiERZ A
Internal and External Double Circular PRC 30% 30% (5,819) (1174) (7,267) (1,001)
Economy Technology (Suzhou)
Co, Ltd.

RINEEREER R (BN BRAE PE

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the RNEE A B RIS A M B A 7] st
Group's subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material non- BAREEMFEERMEZEFHIT - TX
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial M BERSE AN EE RN IIEIEAT S5 -
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.
CITIC Cyber Security RERZ
2023 2022
—Eg== =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Current assets MENEE 2,969 3,722
Non-current assets EMENEE 24,457 25512
Current liabilities mEaRr (48,377) (50,752)
Non-current liabilities FErREaE (223) -
Net liabilities BEFHE (21,174) (21,518)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NNANBHEA AFE(EREZS (14,822) (15,063)
Non-controlling interests FEPER = (6,352) (6,455)

ETRERRAR
:@:EEE%% 201 4
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For the yearended 31 March 2023 #Z=F_=F=A=+—HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. AR FE)ME R B AIFE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
CITIC Cyber Security (Continued) RERZ (E)
2023 2022
=B—= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FH&T
Revenue g 1,047 5,930
Other income Hlg A 693 1,585
Expenses F sz (4,781) (16,022)
Loss for the year FAEE (3,041) (8,507)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company NG AEILEE (2,129) (5,955)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling eI AR o PR (G BT 1R
interests (912) (2,552)
Loss for the year FAEE (3,041) (8,507)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) KARIHAE AEGEMEE
attributable to owners of the Company Wi/ (FisZ) 2,370 (892)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) RSO EMEE
attributable to the non-controlling interests Wk (Fx%) 1,015 (382)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FAEMEEREE (FAX)
for the year 3,385 (1,274)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AARHEE ABEEERE
attributable to owners of the Company (FZ) 1858 241 (6,847)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) IR R R G 2
attributable to the non-controlling interests (F)#a%8 103 (2,934)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FRzEkE(FAx) 2%
for the year 344 (9,781)
Net cash outflow from operating activities ST IE S FE R (1,987) (4,237)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEEHNIE S RAERE 1,575 6,554
Net cash outflow from financing activities BB EEHIR S FEE (175) (1,667)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (L), RAFE (587) 650
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AR ERRMGE

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #ZE=—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. AR FE)ME R B AIFE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Internal and External Double Circular Economy AN ERREERE (M) BRQ
Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Gl
2023 2022
=B—= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENVE B 128 21,427
Non-current assets FERBEE = -
Current liabilities mEEE (305) 717)
Non-current liabilities FRBBIE = -
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) BEZSE (177) 20,710
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  ZANA &l %A A B #ERS 7,090 21,711
Non-controlling interests JEFERS B 2 (7,267) (1,001)
2023 2022
=== —EF-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FH&T
Revenue g 310 758
Other income E AU A 56 420
Expenses 3 (19,763) (5,090)
Loss for the year FNEE (19,397) (3912)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RATHER AELER (13,578) (2,738)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests  JE2E fk 4 25 JE (L 548 (5,819) (1,174)
Loss for the year FAEE (19,397) (3912)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income KARIHAE AEGEMEE
attributable to owners of the Company (A, Mz (1,043) 403
Other comprehensive (expense)/income JEER RO EMEE
attributable to the non-controlling interests (X)), Wz (447) 173
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FREMETE (FIX), WS
for the year (1,490) 576
Total comprehensive expense attributable RRABHEAEGEZE
to owners of the Company 7 4258 (14,621) (2.335)
Total comprehensive expense attributable IR SRR E
to the non-controlling interests 4858 (6,266) (1,001)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRNEHEMZ LR (20,887) (3.336)
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEESHIE SRR (2,929) (3,453)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing WEEESRS ORE),/RAFE
activities (259) 6,675
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (Rit),/RAFE (3,188) 3,222
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38.

39.

~ For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-T-=F=A=t+-BItEE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group entered
into one new arrangement in respect of renting property.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$ 1,703,000 and HK$1,819,000 respectively were recognised at the
commencement of the leases.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 13 June 2023.
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FEFRERS

 E—E = FREF=A=+—H
HFE AEERHEMET Y —BFL
e EREEERBERRGESRI#1,703,000
FEITT % 1,819,000 B TN T & FIAR FERR o
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